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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaningof Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of1934. Forward-looking statements inherently are
subject to risks and uncertainties, some ofwhich we cannot predict or quantify. Our actual results may differ materially
from the resultsprojected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include,but are not
limited to, those discussed in “ITEM 1A — Risk Factors,” and in“ITEM 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditionand Results of Operations.” You generally can identify forward-looking statements by theuse of
forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “may,”“will,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates,”“anticipates,” “plans,”
“seeks,” or“continues,” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology.Forward looking statements
also include the assumptions underlying or relating to any suchstatements. Forward looking statements contained within
this document represent a good-faithassessment of Qualstar’s future performance for which management believes there
is areasonable basis. Qualstar disclaims any obligation to update the forward looking statementscontained herein, except
as may be required by law.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION
We design, develop, manufacture and sell automated magnetic tape libraries used to store, retrieve and
manageelectronic data primarily in network computing environments. Tape libraries consist of cartridge tape drives,
tapecartridges and robotics to move the cartridges from their storage locations to the tape drives under software
control.Our tape libraries provide data storage solutions for organizations requiring backup, recovery and archival storage
ofcritical data. Our products are compatible with commonly used operating systems, including UNIX, Windows, andLinux.
Our tape libraries are also compatible with a wide range of storage management software packages, such asthose
supplied by Computer Associates, EMC/Legato, Tivoli, Symantec/Veritas, CommVault and BakBone Software.We offer
tape libraries for multiple tape drive technologies, including LTO, AIT, Super AIT, and SuperDLT.
We sell our tape libraries worldwide, primarily to value added resellers, system integrators and original
equipmentmanufacturers. These customers typically integrate our tape libraries with software from third party vendors
andrelated hardware such as servers and network components to provide storage solutions, which are then sold to
endusers. We configure our libraries based on each customer’s individual requirements, with a normal deliverytime of one
to three working days. This rapid fulfillment of customer orders allows our resellers to minimize theirinventory levels and
allows us to compete effectively with distribution channels used by our competitors.
Qualstar was incorporated in California in 1984. Our initial products were IBM compatible 9-track reel-to-reeltape
drives. In 1995, we entered the tape automation market with a series of tape libraries incorporating 8mm tapedrives. Since
that time, we have introduced a succession of tape library models designed to work with the leadingautomation-capable
tape drive technologies. Automated tape libraries and related products, such as tape drives andtape media, represented
approximately 66.2% of revenues for fiscal 2006, approximately 75.1% of revenues for fiscal2005, and approximately
81.4% of revenues for fiscal 2004. Sales of power supplies, services and other productsaccounted for the balance of our
revenues.
In July 2002, we purchased the assets of N2Power, Incorporated, a supplier of ultra small high efficiencyopen-frame
switching power supplies. Power supplies provided by N2Power are utilized within some of our tapelibrary products as
well as sold to original equipment manufacturers and contract manufacturers for incorporation intotheir products. N2Power
products are sold under the N2Power brand name as well as under a private label brandname through independent sales
representatives and
1
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distributors. Revenues from N2Power products totaled approximately 11.9% of revenues forfiscal 2006, 5.0% of revenues
for fiscal 2005 and 1.8% of revenues for fiscal 2004.
INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
Storing, managing and protecting data has become critical to the operation of manyenterprises and governments as
the world economy becomes increasingly informationdependent. The data storage industry is growing in response to the
increase in the amount ofdata that is generated and that must be preserved. The amount of data has been increasingdue
to the growth in the number of computers, the number, size and complexity of computernetworks and software
applications, and the emergence of new applications such as imageprocessing, internet services, medical image storage,
video and motion picture image storage,and other multi-media applications. In addition, businesses continue to generate
increasingamounts of traditional business information with respect to their products, customers andfinancial data. This
increase in the amount of data that is generated stimulates increases in thedemand for data storage and the management
of this data.
FACTORS DRIVING GROWTH IN DATA STORAGE
•
Increased demand from Internet businesses. The growth in the Internet
hascreated businesses that depend on the creation, access to and archival storage
ofdata. We believe this demand will continue to grow as individuals and
businessesincrease their reliance on the Internet for communications, commerce and
dataretrieval.
•

Growth in new types of data. New types of data are also fueling the growth indata
storage. For example, graphics, audio, video, medical and security images,and multimedia uses such as video on demand, require far greater storagecapacity than text
and financial data.

•

Recognition of the critical importance of data. Corporate databases containuseful
information about customer records, order patterns and other factors thatcan be
analyzed and transformed into a valuable asset and a competitiveadvantage. The
ability to efficiently store, manage and protect this information isimportant to the value
and success of many businesses. The usefulness of pastand present data is further
enhanced by sophisticated data mining softwareapplications that can access and
analyze large databases.

•

Growing awareness of the need for disaster protection. Companies
arerecognizing that without their data they may not survive. Natural disasters, as
wellas overt and covert actions targeted at individual companies, classes of users
orwhole countries, can destroy data and entire data centers, threatening acompany’s
very existence. Systematic replication and secure off-sitestorage of corporate data is
recognized as the best defense against catastrophicdata loss. Tape libraries are a key
technology in most corporate data disasterprotection plans.

•

Compliance with new regulatory requirements for records
retention. Manybusinesses now have to deal with new regulatory requirements from
variousgovernmental agencies that require businesses to retain data for longer
periods oftime. The regulations that have received the most visibility include
HIPAArequirements covering medical records; Sarbanes-Oxley, which
addressescorporate governance; and Rule 17a under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934,regarding recordkeeping requirements for the securities industry. These
regulationsand others are projected to increase demand for long-term storage
capacity overthe next few years.

•

Growth in network computing applications and data. The use of
computernetworks has shifted critical information and applications to network servers
toallow more people to gain access to stored data as well as to create new data.
Asthe speed of network computing has increased, numerous new applications
havebecome feasible such as computer fax and e-mail, all of which
generateprogressively more data. Organizations are increasingly aware of the need
toprotect this data, as networks become a mission-critical element of manyoperations.

2
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•

Decrease in the costs of storing data. The costs of data storage havedecreased
with advances in technology and improved manufacturing processes.We expect these
costs to continue to decrease. The decrease in the cost of datastorage encourages
the storage of more data and makes it more cost effective tosimply add more storage
capacity than to remove old data, which in the past mayhave been purged
periodically.

ADVANCES IN STORAGE MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIES
The growth in data is contributing to an evolution in traditional storage solutions. Newtechnologies are designed to
provide high-speed connectivity for data-intensive applicationsacross multiple operating systems, including UNIX,
Windows, and Linux. These new methods ofstorage and data management technologies include the following:
•
Fibre Channel. Fibre Channel is an interface technology based on industrystandards
for the connection of storage devices to networks. Interface is the termused to
describe the electronics, cabling and software used to facilitatecommunications
between devices. With Fibre Channel, users are better able toshare stored
information with other storage devices and servers over longerdistances, with faster
data transfer speeds, thereby increasing the importance ofstorage area networks.
•

Storage Area Networks. Storage Area Network, or SAN, architecture applies
theinherent benefits of a networked approach to data storage applications,
whichallows data to move efficiently and reliably between multiple storage devices
andservers. The benefits of SAN architecture also include increasing the
expandabilityof existing storage solutions and providing a higher level of connectivity
than existswith traditional technologies. Additionally, SANs are able to provide these
benefitsacross multiple operating systems.

•

Advanced storage management software. This software automatically
migratesinfrequently accessed data to the lower cost storage medium such as a
tapelibrary. A user’s request for this data at some later date will recall the
dataautomatically from the tape library. This process reduces the overall storage
costby using the least expensive storage medium to store data that is not expected
tobe needed on a frequent basis. Advances in storage management software
haveincreased the ability of businesses to more cost-effectively store, manage
andretrieve data, which in turn allows businesses to operate more efficiently.

•

Network Attached Storage. Current storage devices are dependent on a fileserver
for all commands and control. Network attached storage devices givestorage devices
file server functionality, which allow users to plug a storage devicedirectly into a
network without requiring a separate file server. This allows users tomaintain, or even
enhance, system performance while saving on both time andcost.

TYPES OF DATA STORAGE
Current non-volatile storage solutions are based primarily on two technologies: magneticdisk and magnetic tape.
These technologies represent a compromise among a variety ofcompeting factors including capacity, cost, speed,
portability and data reliability. Magnetic tapesare removable, which allows them to be transported easily to an off-site
location for security orprotection from physical harm. Magnetic disks provide quicker access to stored data andgenerally
are used when speed is important. Less frequently used data is often migrated frommagnetic disks to tape storage. Tape
libraries provide an online solution, where less frequentlyused data files are stored on tape at substantially lower cost
compared to disk while stillproviding automated access.
3
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TAPE LIBRARIES AND APPLICATIONS
Tape libraries automate the tape loading process, eliminate errors induced by humanoperators, and enhance security
compared to tapes that must be retrieved and loaded manually.Tape libraries can also be operated from remote locations
around the clock, thus, eliminating theneed for an operator. Automated tape libraries are a key component in a
company’soverall storage solution and data protection strategy.
Tape drives and tape media are the two key components of tape libraries. The costs of tapedrives and tape media
have declined with advances in technology, and we expect this trend tocontinue. As prices decline, new applications for
automated storage become justified, furtherincreasing the number of applications that can benefit from the use of tape
libraries. We believethat continued technological improvements in tape drives and tape media will continue to
reduceoverall storage costs in the future.
Current and emerging applications for tape libraries include:
•
Automated backup. Backup is the creation of a duplicate copy of current data forthe
purpose of recovering the data in the event the original is lost or damaged.
Anautomated tape library, in conjunction with storage management software,
canbackup network data at any time without human intervention. A library with
multipletape drives can backup data using all of its drives simultaneously, thus
significantlyspeeding up the recording process. Backup tapes can be removed from
the libraryand stored in an off-site location for protection against a loss of the primary
site
•
Archiving. Archiving is the storage of data for historical purposes. Wheninformation
is stored on tape, automated tape libraries, under application control,can catalog
tapes for future retrieval and prevent unauthorized removal orcorruption of data by
using password or key lock protection. Archival tapes providea historic record for use
in fraud detection, audit, legal and other processes. Tapelibraries are also used for
archiving due to benefits offered by the tape medium,such as long-term data integrity,
resistance to environmental contamination, easeof relocation, low cost, and the
availability of “Write Once ReadMany” or WORM tapes.
•

Image management. Storage-intensive applications such as satellite mapping
andmedical image management systems are turning to tape libraries because of
thecost advantage over traditional storage methods. X-ray images or MRI results,
forinstance, must frequently be kept on file for years. Storing a digitized image in
atape library costs considerably less than storing a film copy, and can be
retrievedyears later with the click of a mouse.

DISTRIBUTION OF TAPE LIBRARY PRODUCTS
The requirements for storage solutions vary depending on the size of an enterprise, the typeof data generated and
the amount of data to be stored. With the increased dependence onstored data, most organizations, regardless of their
size, have a heightened need for storagesolutions that integrate devices such as tape drives, tape libraries and storage
managementsoftware. Those organizations with sufficient in-house information technology resources can relyon their
internal infrastructure and expertise to design, purchase and implement their ownstorage solutions. These organizations
may elect to purchase equipment from distributors ordirectly from the original equipment manufacturers. Many
organizations, however, do not havesufficient in-house resources but have the same need for data storage solutions.
Theseorganizations often look to value added resellers to design, supply and install their storagesolutions.
Value added resellers develop and install storage solutions for enterprises that face complexstorage needs but lack
the in-house capability of designing and implementing the propersolution or have chosen to outsource these functions.
Typically, the value added reseller willselect among a variety of different hardware technologies and software options, as
well asprovide installation and other services, to deliver a complete storage solution for the end user.Value added
resellers require rapid turnaround of orders, custom configuration of tape libraries,drop shipment to their customer’s site,
software, and marketing and technical support.
4
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Original equipment manufacturers generally resell products made by others under their ownbrand name and typically
assume responsibility for product sales, service and support. Originalequipment manufacturers enable manufacturers,
such as Qualstar, to reach end users notserved by other channels and to serve select vertical markets where specific
original equipmentmanufacturers have exceptional strength. Original equipment manufacturers require specialservices
such as product configuration control, extensive qualification testing, custom colors andprivate labeling.
OUR SOLUTIONS
We offer storage solutions that respond to the growing data management challenges facingbusinesses today, while
addressing the unique needs of value added resellers and originalequipment manufacturers.
We believe that high reliability is important to the end users of our products due to thecritical nature of the data that is
being stored, shorter time periods available for the back-upoperations, and the operation of backup systems during hours
when personnel may not beavailable to respond to problems. To address these concerns, we emphasize quality
andreliability in the design, manufacturing and testing of our products which reduces the potentialfor product failures and
results in products that require little maintenance.
The technology utilized in automated tape libraries is continuously evolving due to advancesin data recording
methods, component cost reductions, advances in semiconductor andmicroprocessor technologies, and a general trend
toward miniaturization in the electronicsindustry. This changing technology requires that we continuously develop and
market newproducts to prevent our product lines from becoming obsolete.
Our tape libraries are compatible with over forty-five(45) third-party storage managementsoftware packages, including
those supplied by Computer Associates, EMC/Legato, Tivoli,Symantec/Veritas, CommVault and BakBone Software.
Storage management software enablesnetwork administrators to allocate the use of storage technologies among user
groups or tasks,to manage data from a central location, and to retrieve, transfer and backup data betweenmultiple
workstations. We believe that storage management software is a crucial component ofany automated storage installation,
and lack of compatibility is a significant barrier to entry fornew tape library competitors. To ensure compatibility, our
engineers work with independentsoftware vendors during the product development cycles. We do not have contracts with
anyindependent software vendors, nor do we need access to their software code to design ourproducts. We maintain
relationships with them by supplying tape libraries so they can qualifytheir software to work with our tape libraries and by
evaluating their software for compatibilitywith our tape libraries. We also support our relationships with them by keeping
them informedabout current and anticipated changes to our products and by referring business to them whenvalue added
resellers or end users inquire about storage management software sources.
STRATEGY
Our goals are to enhance our position as a supplier of automated tape libraries and tomaintain or increase our market
share in each of the tape formats in which we compete. Toachieve these goals, we intend to:
•
Offer libraries for multiple tape drive technologies. We offer tape libraries for
arange of tape drive technologies, including LTO, AIT, Super AIT, and SuperDLT.By
offering products based on multiple tape drive technologies, we reduce
ourdependence on the success of any single tape technology and can offer
productsthat target the specific preferences of resellers and original
equipmentmanufacturers and their end user customers.
•

Focus on value added reseller channels. We sell our products primarily
throughselected value added resellers who have a strong market presence,
havedemonstrated the ability to work directly
5
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with end users, and who maintain relationships with major vendors of storage
managementsoftware. Because we market our products primarily through this channel, we
haveimplemented a variety of programs to support and enhance our relationships with
ourreseller partners. These programs are designed to benefit the reseller and increase
thelikelihood of selling our products. We intend to maintain our marketing presence in
supportof this channel. We conduct business with our value added resellers on an
individualpurchase order basis and no long-term purchase commitments are involved.
•

Maintain and strengthen original equipment manufacturer relationships. Wesell
our products to several companies under private label or original
equipmentmanufacturer relationships. Original equipment manufacturer sales enable
us toreach some end users not served by our value added resellers. The same
productcharacteristics that make our tape libraries attractive to value added resellers
alsoare important to original equipment manufacturers. We conduct business with
ouroriginal equipment manufacturer customers on an individual purchase order
basisand no long-term purchase commitments are involved.

•

Develop libraries for new tape technologies. The tape drive industry
iscontinuously advancing the state of technology. We will continue to design
newlibraries for those technologies that appear promising and that meet our
standardsfor capacity, quality and reliability.

We believe that our experience, efficiency and strict control over the development andmanufacture of new products
are key factors in the successful execution of our strategy. Wedesign our tape libraries with a high percentage of common
parts, use quality components andminimize the number of moving parts. We utilize proprietary techniques in the design,
productionand testing of our libraries in order to simplify the manufacturing process and reduce our costs.We manufacture
all of our products at a single facility and we control our inventory closely toprovide rapid delivery to our customers. These
steps allow us to design and bring to marketnew products rapidly in response to changing technology.
PRODUCTS
Tape Libraries
We offer a number of tape library families, each capable of incorporating one or more tapedrive technologies, as
summarized in the following table:

ProductFamily

Tape Drive

Range of Tape

MaximumCapacit
y

Technology

Cartridges

in Terabytes(1)

TLS-4000
Sony AIT
12 to 600
120.0
TLS-5000
Sony SAIT
33 to 264
132.0
TLS-6000
Quantum SDLT
10 to 240
72.0
TLS-8000
LTO
11 to 264
105.6
RLS-4000
Sony AIT
22 to 70
14.0
RLS-5000
Sony SAIT
16 to 44
22.0
RLS-6000
Quantum SDLT
27
8.1
RLS-8000
LTO
12 to 44
17.6
XLS Series
LTO
295-2805(2)
1122.0(2)
(1) A Terabyte is one million megabytes, or one thousand gigabytes. The table showsnative
capacity and excludes gains from data compression, which can increase capacityby more
than 100%.
(2) 2,805 tapes and 1,122.0 terabytes reflect the product configuration at its initial
releasestage. Planned future releases of internal firmware will allow expansion to as high
as6,265 tapes and 2,506.0 terabytes using LTO-3 tape technology.
Our tape library families include a number of models that differ in storage capacity, priceand features. Our libraries
are installed in network computing environments ranging from smalldepartmental networks
6
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to enterprise-wide networks supporting hundreds of users. We believe that selling products formultiple tape drive
technologies insulates us somewhat from the dynamics of the marketplace asvarious tape standards compete for market
share. This helps our products appeal to thebroadest possible range of end user market segments. This wide range of
products makes us aone-stop supplier for our value added reseller and original equipment manufacturer
customers,enabling them to meet most end user requirements for a specific tape format.
Tape libraries generally contain two or more tape drives and from ten to thousands of tapes.We design our tape
libraries for continuous, unattended operation. Multiple tape drives allowsimultaneous access to different data files by
different users on the network, and increase therate at which data can move on to, out of, or within the network. A library
with multiple tapedrives can back up data using all drives simultaneously, significantly speeding up the recordingprocess.
In some of our libraries, tape cartridges are stored in removable magazines, allowingfor easy bulk removal of the tapes.
Our libraries also offer features such as barcode readers toscan cartridge labels and an input/output port for importing and
exporting tapes under systemcontrol. Several of our library models are expandable in the field by increasing the number
oftape storage positions. This feature provides the end user with the ability to increase datacapacity as storage needs
grow.
We continue to develop and release new libraries to expand our product offerings to meetthe changing demands of
the marketplace. In addition, we continue to enhance and improve ourexisting products to maintain our competitive
position.
Some of our tape libraries incorporate a number of specialized features that we believeimprove reliability,
serviceability and performance, including:
•
Rapid tape drive replacement. We design our libraries so that a tape drive can
bereplaced quickly without special tools. This feature minimizes the off-line
timerequired when a tape drive must be replaced, and frequently avoids the high
costand delays of a service call.
•

Fibre Channel connectivity. We offer a Fibre Channel option on many of ourmodels
for connection to Storage Area Networks and other high performanceapplications.

•

Closed-loop servo control. Our tape libraries use digital closed-loop servo controlfor
robotic motion to provide precise tape handling. This yields motion that issmooth,
repeatable and highly reliable.

•

Brushless motors. Motors are a key component in any robotic system. We useonly
brushless electric motors in our tape libraries. Brushless motors provide longerlife and
less electrical noise compared to conventional brush-type motors. We buildmany of
our own motors in order to obtain optimum performance and reliability.

•

Remote management. Many larger companies with global back-up requirementsor
disaster management programs require tape libraries that can be located off-sitein
various regions, but that must be administered from a single location. With ourremote
library manager, customers can put libraries anywhere in the world andmanage them
from a single administrative hub using a standard web browser.

Our RLS Series of tape libraries are designed to fit efficiently in equipment racks andprovide back-up capacity in only
five standard units, or a total of 8.75 inches of rack space. Inaddition, some models in the RLS series were designed to
support dual-redundant powersupplies and hot-swappable tape drives.
Power Supplies
In addition to tape libraries, we design, manufacture, and sell ultra small, open frame, highefficiency switching power
supplies. These power supplies are used to convert AC line voltageto DC for use in a wide variety of electronic equipment
such as telecommunications equipment,machine tools, routers, switches, wireless systems and gaming devices.
7
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Our power supplies are sold under the N2 Power brand. We have specialized in units thatare less than 13/4 inches
high and that are optimized for high efficiency operation. The highefficiency allows the units to be operated in confined
spaces without heating up the surroundingequipment.
We believe that as worldwide energy concerns and energy costs rise, our high efficiencyapproach will become more
important. Additionally, these products are utilized within some ofour tape library products.
Other Products
We also sell ancillary products related to our tape libraries, such as tape media, tapemagazines, cables, bar code
labels and fibre channel adapters.
SALES AND MARKETING
Sales
We sell our tape library products primarily through value added resellers. Our sales force willinitiate contact with value
added resellers who are candidates to sell our tape libraries. We striveto develop relationships with resellers who have
expertise in storage management applications,established relationships with end users and the experience to understand
and satisfy theircustomers’ needs.
We believe that by selling directly to value added resellers, we have an advantage overcompetitors who will often sell
directly to end users, thereby competing with their resellers.Some of the advantages of our strategy include the following:
•
Higher profit margins. Focusing on this channel, we achieve economies that resultin
higher profit margins to be shared by both the reseller and us.
•
Custom configurations. We offer custom configurations of our products, such
asspecial paint, private branding and non-standard options, on very short notice.
•
Channel conflicts avoided. We refer substantially all end user inquiries to ourreseller
partners. Frequently, our sales force will make end user visits with resellersto help
close a pending sale.
•
•

Credit. We extend credit terms to resellers who meet our credit requirements.
Rapid delivery. We generally ship a product within one to three working days
ofconfirming an order, rivaling the delivery time of competitors that use distributors
tobring products to market.

Although we sell our tape libraries primarily to value added resellers, we believe that originalequipment manufacturers
are an important element of our business. The sales cycle for originalequipment manufacturers generally encompasses
six months to one year and may involveextensive product and system qualification testing, evaluation, integration and
verification.Original equipment manufacturers typically assume responsibility for product sales, service andsupport.
Our international sales are currently directed from our corporate offices in Simi Valley,California. European sales are
coordinated through our European sales office in the UnitedKingdom. All of our international sales are denominated in
U.S. dollars. Revenues fromcustomers outside of North America were approximately $5.7 million, or 26.1% of revenues
infiscal 2006, approximately $6.9 million, or 27.3% of revenues in fiscal 2005, and approximately$10.2 million or 32.4% of
revenues in fiscal 2004.
Our sales are spread across a broad customer base. Revenues from Qualstar’s twolargest customers combined were
approximately 13.4%, 13.9%, and 14.6% for the years endedJune 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively and no single
customer accounted for more than10% of our revenue.
8
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Marketing
We support our sales efforts with a broad array of marketing programs designed to generatebrand awareness, attract
and retain qualified value added resellers and inform end users aboutthe advantages of our products. We provide our
resellers with a full range of marketingmaterials, including product specifications, sales literature, software connectivity
information andproduct application notes.
We train our resellers to sell our products and to answer customers’ questions. Weadvertise in key publications and
participate in trade shows. We display our products under theQualstar brand name at some trade shows and participate in
other trade shows in partnershipwith our principal suppliers and resellers. We support our marketing and customer
support witha website that features comprehensive marketing and product information.
We conduct sales and technical training classes for our resellers. We also conduct variouspromotional activities for
resellers and end users, including product-specific rebates andcooperative advertising.
CUSTOMER SERVICE AND TECHNICAL SUPPORT
We believe that strong customer service and technical support is an essential aspect of ourbusiness. Our customer
service and technical support efforts consist of the followingcomponents:
•
Technical support. Our technical support personnel are available twenty-fourhours
per day, Monday through Friday. Technical support personnel are availableto all
customers at no charge by telephone, facsimile and e-mail to answerquestions and
solve problems relating to our products. Estimated costs of thisservice are provided
for when revenue is recognized. Our technical supportpersonnel are trained in all
aspects of our products. Our support staff is located atour headquarters in Simi
Valley, California. We sell service contracts for on-siteservice of our tape libraries
installed within the United States and Canada, whichare fulfilled by IBM Corporation
and on-site service contracts sold in Europe arefulfilled by Eastman Kodak S.A.
Commercial Imaging Group.
•

Sales engineering. Our engineers provide pre-sales support to our resellers,
andpost-sales support if necessary. Engineers typically become involved in
morecomplex problem-solving situations involving interactions between our
products,third-party software, network server hardware and the network operating
systems.Engineers work with resellers and end users over the telephone and at an
enduser site as required.

•

Training. We offer a product maintenance training program for end users,
valueadded resellers, original equipment manufacturers, customer service and
technicalsupport personnel. We conduct training classes at our headquarters.

•

Warranty. The warranty period on our tape libraries is three years. Some TLS andall
RLS models have three year advance replacement warranty coverage thatprovides
for replacement of components or, if necessary, complete libraries. Allother TLS
models have a one year advance replacement warranty with the secondand third year
being return-to-factory for service at no charge. Customers maypurchase extended
advance replacement service coverage and on-site service ifthey are located in the
United States, Canada and some countries within Europe.

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLIERS
We manufacture all of our tape libraries at our facility in Simi Valley, California. We operateour manufacturing on one
daily eight-hour shift. However, if required, we have the ability to adda second or third shift to increase our capacity.
To respond rapidly to orders, we build our tape libraries to a semi-finished state, performfull testing and then place the
tape libraries in a holding area until an order is received. Once anorder is confirmed, we remove the unit from the holding
area, install tape drives and configurethe unit to meet the specific requirements of the order, retest and then ship.
9
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The manufacturing cycle to bring our libraries to a semi-finished state is approximately fiveworking days for our TLS
and RLS libraries and approximately 30 working days for our XLSlibraries. We believe that this process represents an
effective way to control our inventory levelswhile maintaining the ability to fill specific orders in short lead times. We
coordinate inventoryplanning and management with suppliers and customers to match our production to marketdemand.
Once we confirm an order, we generally ship the product within one to three workingdays. We believe this response time
is among the fastest in the industry and gives us acompetitive edge. Because we fill the majority of our orders as they are
received, our backloggenerally is small and is not indicative of future revenues.
We carefully select our suppliers based on their ability to provide quality parts that meet ourspecifications and volume
requirements. Inventory planning and management is coordinatedclosely with suppliers to match our production needs.
Many of the components assembled intoour libraries are off-the-shelf parts, which reduces the risk of part shortages and
allows us tomaintain inventory of these parts at a minimum. A number of our component parts are notavailable off the
shelf, but are designed to our specifications for integration into our products.
Tape drives and tape media are available only from a limited number of suppliers, some ofwhich are sole-source
providers. Some of our suppliers compete with us by selling their owntape libraries. The risk of allocation is greater upon
the introduction of a new tape drivetechnology. Any disruption in supplies of tape drives or tape media could delay
shipments of ourproducts.
COMPETITION
The market for automated tape libraries is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidlychanging technology and
evolving standards. Because we offer a broad range of libraries fordifferent tape drive technologies, we tend to have a
large number of competitors that differdepending on the particular format and performance level. Our principal competitors
in thismarket segment include Sun/StorageTek, Quantum Corporation, Overland Storage, Inc., andSpectra Logic
Corporation.
Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources, bettername recognition, larger
research and development staffs, and more capabilities inmanufacturing, marketing and distributing products than we do.
Our competitors may developnew technologies and products that are more effective than our products. We are not ISO9000certified, unlike some of our competitors, which may limit some customers’ ability topurchase our products.
As competitors introduce products in a particular tape drive technology, the increasedcompetition normally results in
price erosion and a reduction in gross margins for allcompetitors. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete
successfully against eithercurrent or potential competitors or that competition will not cause a reduction in our revenues
orprofit margins. We believe that our ability to compete depends on a number of factors, includingthe success and timing
of new product developments by us and by our competitors,compatibility of our products with a broad range of computing
systems, product performance,reliability, price, marketing and sales execution and customer support. Specifically, we
believethat the principal competitive factors in the selection of a tape library include:
•
reliability of the robotic assembly that handles the tape cartridges;
•
initial purchase price;
•
storage capacity;
•
speed of data transfer;
•
compatibility with existing operating systems and storage management software;
•
after-sale expandability of a tape library to meet increasing storage requirements;
•
expected product life, cost of maintenance and total cost of ownership; and
•
physical configuration and power requirements of the library.
10
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We believe our tape libraries compete favorably overall with respect to many of thesefactors.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Our research and development team consists of engineers and technicians who have datastorage and related
industry experience. We have developed over 40 separate tape librarymodels for eleven different tape formats over the
last eleven years.
Our research and development efforts rely on the integration of multiple engineeringdisciplines to generate products
that meet market needs in a competitive and timely fashion.Successful development of automated tape libraries requires
the integration of mechanicaldesign, electronic design packaging, and firmware design into a single product. Product
successalso relies on the engineering group’s thorough knowledge of each of the different tapedrive technologies.
We frequently develop new products in response to the availability of a new tape drivetechnology. As tape drive
manufacturers compete in the marketplace, they continually invest inresearch and development to gain performance
leadership either by offering increasinglyenhanced versions of their current tape drive products or by introducing an
entirely new tapedrive technology. We benefit from these industry developments by utilizing the new technologyin our
products. Our engineers work closely with the tape drive manufacturers through the drivedevelopment cycle to assure that
reliable tape library and tape drive combinations are brought tomarket.
The design architecture of our tape libraries makes use of common parts across mostproduct families, allowing us to
develop and introduce new products quickly. If a new tape driveis an advanced version of one already incorporated in one
or more of our products, our timeand dollar investment to incorporate the new drive can be relatively small, with the
primary focusbeing on verification testing. When the form factors differ, the time and investment requirementscan grow
substantially, and may require development of a new product family altogether.
We also develop new products as we identify emerging market needs. Our sales, marketing,product development and
engineering groups identify products to fulfill customer andmarketplace needs. Our research and development group
concentrates on leveraging previousengineering investments into new products. For example, our firmware is based on
successivegenerations of the operating system developed for our first library. We also use common partsin our different
library series and leverage our electro-mechanical and electronic hardwaretechnology from previous products into next
generation designs. In some cases, entiresubassemblies are transferable, leveraging not only engineering time but also
materialspurchasing, inventory stocking and manufacturing efforts.
Our research and development expenses were approximately $3.1 million in fiscal 2006,approximately $3.8 million in
fiscal 2005, and approximately $4.3 million in fiscal 2004. Weanticipate research and development costs to remain about
the same in fiscal 2007.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We rely on copyright protection of our firmware, as well as patent protection for some of ourdesigns and products. We
also rely on a combination of trademark, trade secret and otherintellectual property laws to protect our proprietary rights.
However, we do not believe ourintellectual property provides significant protection from competition. We believe that,
because ofthe rapid pace of technological change in the tape storage industry, patent, copyright, trademarkand trade
secret protection are less significant than factors such as the knowledge, ability andexperience of our personnel and
timely new product introductions.
We enter into Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreements with ourengineers along with all
employees and consultants to protect our technology and designs.However, we do not believe that such protection can
preclude competitors from developingsubstantially equivalent products.
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EMPLOYEES
As of September 12, 2006, we had 89 employees, including 30 in operations andmanufacturing, 22 in research and
development, 6 in customer service and technical support, 17in sales and marketing, and 14 in administration and
finance. We also employ a small numberof temporary employees and consultants as needed. We are not a party to any
collectivebargaining agreement or other similar agreement. We believe that we have a good relationshipwith our
employees.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
Executive Officers
Officers are elected by and serve at the discretion of the board of directors. The executive officers of Qualstar asof
September 25, 2006 are:
Name

Age

William J. Gervais

63

Richard A. Nelson
David L. Griffith
Robert K. Covey
Robert C. King

63
49
59
62

Position

Chief Executive Officer, President, Director and Acting
ChiefFinancial Officer(1)
Vice President of Engineering, Secretary and Director
Vice President of Operations
Vice President of Marketing
Vice President of Sales

(1) Our previous Chief Financial Officer resigned effective as of August 18th, 2006. We are actively searching for anew
Chief Financial Officer. In the interim, Mr. Gervais is serving in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer.
Background
William J. Gervaisis a founder of Qualstar and has been our President and a director since our inception in1984, and
was elected Chief Executive Officer in January 2000. From 1984 until January 2000, Mr. Gervais alsoserved as our Chief
Financial Officer. From 1981 until 1984, Mr. Gervais was President of Northridge DesignAssociates, Inc., an engineering
consulting firm. Mr. Gervais was a co-founder, and served as Engineering Managerfrom 1976 until 1981, of Micropolis
Corporation. Mr. Gervais earned a B.S. degree in Mechanical Engineering fromCalifornia State Polytechnic University,
Pomona in 1967.
Richard A. Nelsonis a founder of Qualstar and has been our Vice President of Engineering, Secretary and adirector
since our inception in 1984. From 1974 to 1984, Mr. Nelson was self employed as an engineering consultantspecializing
in microprocessor technology. Mr. Nelson earned a B.S. in Electronic Engineering from California StatePolytechnic
University, Pomona in 1966.
David L. Griffith, our Vice President of Operations, joined the company in October of 2001. From 1999 to
2001,Mr. Griffith served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Stardrive Solutions Inc., a software
solutionsprovider for the broadcast automation industry. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Griffith was the Corporate Vice President
ofBusiness Development at Tandberg Data ASA where he was responsible for the development of worldwide
businessplans and corporate expansion activities. From 1994 to 1998, Mr. Griffith was the President and Chief
ExecutiveOfficer of Tandberg Data, Inc. located in Simi Valley, California. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. Griffith was the
VicePresident of Sales and Marketing for Tandberg Data, Inc. From 1987 to 1990, Mr. Griffith acted as Marketing
Managerand Program Manager for the Memory Products Group of Siemens Information Systems. Mr. Griffith received
adegree in Mechanical Engineering from California State Polytechnic University in 1980.
Robert K. Coveyhas been our Vice President of Marketing since 1994. From 1986 to 1993 Mr. Covey wasregional
manager of ATG Cygnet, an optical disk library firm. From 1982 to 1985, Mr. Covey served as
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national sales manager at Micropolis Corporation, a former disk drive manufacturer. Mr. Coveyattended Butler University
and Bentley College from 1965 to 1968.
Robert C. Kingwas appointed our Vice President of Sales in June 2005. From 1999 until itwas acquired by JDS
Uniphase in 2004, Mr. King was Vice President, Sales for E2OCommunications, a manufacturer of optical transceivers.
From 1995 to 1998 Mr. King was VicePresident, Sales and Marketing for Advanced Photonix. From 1992 to 1995,
Mr. King served asVice President, Sales and Marketing for Performance Materials Corporation. From 1989 to
1992,Mr. King served as Vice President, Market and Business Development for PCO, a subsidiary ofCorning
Incorporated. Mr. King holds a B.S.M.E. degree from Ohio University in Athens, Ohio.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, as described atpage 3 of this report under the
caption “Forward-Looking Statements.” We believethat the risks described below are the most important factors which
may cause our actual futureresults of operations to differ materially from the results projected in the forwardlookingstatements.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
The principal risks applicable to our business in general are described below. Specific risksapplicable to our tape
library and power supply operating segments are described in thefollowing subsections of Item 1A.
We have a limited number of executives. The loss of any single executive or the failureto hire and integrate
capable new executives could harm our business.
The success of our business is tied closely to the managerial, engineering and businessacumen of our existing
executives. William J. Gervais, our President, has been largelyresponsible for the development of most of our tape
libraries, has overseen our operations andgrowth, and established and maintained our strategic relationships. We expect
that he willcontinue these efforts for the foreseeable future. Our future success will also depend on ourability to attract,
retain and motivate key executives and other key personnel, many of whomhave been instrumental in developing new
technologies and strategic plans. We may not beable to retain our existing personnel or attract additional qualified
personnel in the future.However, our current dependence on a limited number of executives and other key personnel,for
whom replacements may be difficult to find, entails a risk that we may not be able tosupervise and manage our ongoing
operations.
Our lack of significant order backlog makes it difficult to forecast future revenues andoperating results.
We normally ship products within a few days after orders are received. Consequently, we donot have significant order
backlog and a large portion of our revenues in each quarter resultfrom orders placed during that quarter. Because backlog
can be an important indicator of futurerevenues, our lack of backlog makes it more difficult to forecast our future revenues.
Since ouroperating expenses are relatively fixed in the short term, unexpected fluctuations in revenuescould negatively
impact our quarterly operating results.
Our research and development spending may not yield results that justify the costsincurred.
In recent fiscal years we have spent substantial amounts for research and development. Ourproducts and markets
are technologically advanced and rapidly evolving, and we cannot beassured that these efforts will successfully provide us
with new or upgraded products that will becompetitive. If these
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programs are not successful, our investment in research and development will not yieldcorresponding benefits to us.
Our customers have the right to return our products in certain circumstances. Anexcessive number of returns
may reduce our revenues.
Our customers have 30 days from the date of purchase to return products that do notconform to an end user’s
requirements. Distributors have additional return privileges thatextend well beyond 30 days. We may otherwise allow
product returns if we think that doing somaximizes the effectiveness of our sales channels and promotes our reputation for
quality andservice.
Although we estimate and reserve for potential returns in our reported financial results,actual returns could exceed
our estimates. If the number of returns exceeds our estimates, ourfinancial results could be adversely impacted for the
periods during which returns are made.
We may spend money pursuing sales that do not occur when anticipated or at all.
Original equipment manufacturer customers typically conduct significant evaluation, testing,implementation and
acceptance procedures before they begin to market and sell new products.This evaluation process is lengthy and may
range from six months to one year or more. Thisprocess is complex and may require significant sales, marketing,
engineering and managementresources on our part. The process becomes more complex as we simultaneously qualify
ourproducts with multiple customers or pursue large orders with a single customer. As a result, wemay expend resources
to develop customer relationships before we recognize any revenue fromthese relationships, if at all.
We sell a significant portion of our products to customers located outside the UnitedStates. Currency
fluctuations and increased costs associated with international salescould make our products unaffordable in
foreign markets, which would reduce ourrevenue or profitability.
Revenues from shipments to customers outside of North America accounted forapproximately 26.1% of revenues in
fiscal 2006, approximately 27.3% of revenues in fiscal 2005and approximately 32.4% of revenues in fiscal 2004. We
believe that international sales willcontinue to represent a significant portion of our revenues. Our international sales
subject us toa number of risks, including:
•
political and economic instability may reduce demand for our products or our abilityto
market our products in foreign countries;
•
although we denominate our international sales in U.S. dollars, currency
fluctuationscould make our products unaffordable to foreign purchasers or more
expensivecompared to those of foreign manufacturers;
•
•
•
•

•

restrictions on the export or import of technology may reduce or eliminate ourability to
sell in certain markets;
greater difficulty of administering business overseas may increase the costs offoreign
sales and support;
foreign governments may impose tariffs, quotas and taxes on our products;
longer payment cycles typically associated with international sales and
potentialdifficulties in collecting accounts receivable may reduce the profitability of
foreignsales; and
our current determination not to seek ISO-9000 certification, a widely acceptedmethod
of establishing and certifying the quality of a manufacturer’soperations, may reduce
sales.

These risks may increase our costs of doing business internationally and reduce ourrevenues or profitability.
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A failure to develop and maintain proprietary technology may negatively affect ourbusiness.
We rely on copyright protection of electronic circuits and our firmware, as well as patentprotection for some of our
designs and products. We also rely on a combination of trademark,trade secret, and other intellectual property laws and
various contract rights to protect ourproprietary rights. However, we do not believe our intellectual property rights provide
significantprotection from competition. As a consequence, these rights may not preclude competitors fromdeveloping
products that are substantially equivalent or superior to our products. In addition,many aspects of our products are not
subject to intellectual property protection and thereforecan be reproduced by our competitors.
Intellectual property infringement claims brought against us could be time consumingand expensive to defend.
In recent years, there has been an increasing amount of litigation in the United Statesinvolving patents and other
intellectual property rights. Qualstar is not currently directly involvedin any intellectual property litigation or proceedings.
However, in April 2004 we settled litigationthat Raytheon Company had filed alleging that Qualstar and eight other named
defendantsinfringed on a patent owned by Raytheon Company entitled “Mass Data StorageLibrary.” In the future, we may
become subject to other claims or inquiries regarding ouralleged unauthorized use of a third party’s intellectual property.
An adverse outcome inlitigation could force us to do one or more of the following:
•
stop selling, incorporating or using our products or services that use the
challengedintellectual property;
•
subject us to significant liabilities to third parties;
•
obtain from the owners of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell oruse
the relevant technology, which license may not be available on reasonableterms, or at
all; or
•

redesign those products or services that use the infringed technology, whichredesign
may be either economically or technologically infeasible.
Whether or not an intellectual property litigation claim is valid, the cost of responding to it, interms of legal fees and
expenses and the diversion of management resources, could harm ourbusiness.
Our warranty reserves may not adequately cover our warranty obligations.
We have established reserves for the estimated liability associated with our productwarranties. However, we could
experience unforeseen circumstances where these or futurereserves may not adequately cover our warranty obligations.
Our revenues and operating results may fluctuate unexpectedly from quarter to quarter,which may cause our
stock price to decline.
Our quarterly revenues and operating results have fluctuated in the past, and are likely tovary significantly in the
future due to several factors, including:
•
general economic conditions affecting spending for information technology;
•
increased competition and pricing pressures;
•
reductions in the size, delays in the timing, or cancellation of significant
customerorders;
•
shifts in product or distribution channel mix;
•
the timing of the introduction or enhancement of products by us, our originalequipment
manufacturer customers or our competitors;
•
expansions or reductions in our relationships with value added reseller and
originalequipment manufacturer customers;
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•

financial difficulties affecting our value added reseller or original
equipmentmanufacturer customers that render them unable to pay amounts owed to
•
market acceptance of new and enhanced versions of our products;
•
new product developments by storage device manufacturers, such as disk drives,that
could render our products less cost effective or less competitive;
•
the rate of growth in the data storage market and the various segments within it;
•
timing and levels of our operating expenses; and
•
availability of key components and performance of key suppliers.
We believe that period to period comparisons of our operating results may not necessarilybe reliable indicators of our
future performance. It is likely that in some future period ouroperating results will not meet your expectations or those of
public market analysts.
Any unanticipated change in revenues or operating results is likely to cause our stock priceto fluctuate since such
changes reflect new information available to investors and analysts. Newinformation may cause investors and analysts to
revalue our stock and this, in the aggregate,may cause fluctuations in our stock price.
Our officers and directors could implement corporate actions that are not in the bestinterests of our
shareholders as a whole.
Our executive officers and directors own beneficially, in the aggregate, approximately 43% ofour outstanding common
stock as of June 30, 2006. As a result, these shareholders will be ableto exercise significant control over all matters
requiring shareholder approval, including theelection of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, which
could delay orprevent someone from acquiring or merging with us. The interests of our officers and directors,when acting
in their capacity as shareholders, may lead them to:
•
vote for the election of directors who agree with the incumbent officers’ ordirectors’
preferred corporate policy; or
•
oppose or support significant corporate transactions when these transactionsfurther
their interests as incumbent officers or directors, even if these interestsdiverge from
their interests as shareholders per se and thus from the interests ofother
shareholders.
Some provisions of our charter documents may make takeover attempts difficult, whichcould depress the price
of our stock and inhibit your ability to receive a premium pricefor your shares.
Our board of directors has the authority, without any action by the shareholders, to issue upto 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock and to fix the rights and preferences of such shares. Inaddition, our articles of incorporation and bylaws
contain provisions that eliminate cumulativevoting in the election of directors and require shareholders to give advance
notice if they wish tonominate directors or submit proposals for shareholder approval. These provisions may have
theeffect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, may discourage bids for ourcommon stock at a premium
over its market price and may adversely affect the market price,and the voting and other rights of the holders of our
common stock.
We do not currently intend to pay dividends and therefore you will only be able torecover your investment in our
common stock, if at all, by selling the shares of thestock that you own.
We historically have pursued a policy of reinvesting our earnings in research anddevelopment, expanding our value
added reseller and original equipment manufacturerrelationships, and expanding our
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manufacturing capabilities. Consequently, we have never paid dividends on our shares of capitalstock. We currently
intend to continue this policy for the foreseeable future to strengthen ourfinancial and competitive position in the markets
in which we operate.
Trading in our stock has been limited and our stock price has been volatile.Consequently, it may be difficult to
sell your shares.
There has been very little trading in shares of our stock and some days it does not trade atall. This, as well as the
factors listed below, has caused the price of our stock to be volatile.Consequently, it may be difficult to sell your shares of
our stock at the price you paid for themor at a price equal to that quoted on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Factors that may
cause ourstock price to fluctuate in the future include:
•
quarterly variations in operating results, especially if they differ from our
previouslyannounced forecasts or forecasts made by analysts;
•
our announcements of anticipated future revenues or operating results;
•
announcements concerning us, our competitors, our customers, or our industry;
•
the introduction of new technology or products by us or our competitors;
•
comments regarding us and the data storage market made by industry analysts oron
Internet bulletin boards;
•
changes in earnings estimates by analysts or changes in accounting policies;
•
changes in product pricing policies by us or our competitors; and
•
changes in general economic conditions.
In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume volatility in recentyears. This volatility has had
a substantial effect on the market prices of securities of manysmaller public companies for reasons frequently unrelated or
disproportionate to the operatingperformance of the specific companies. These market fluctuations may adversely affect
themarket price of our common stock.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR TAPE LIBRARY BUSINESS
The principal risks applicable specifically to our tape library operating segment are describedbelow.
Our principal competitors devote greater financial resources to developing, marketingand selling automated
tape libraries. Consequently, we may be unable to maintain orincrease our market share.
We face significant competition in developing and selling automated tape libraries. Rapidand ongoing changes in
technology and product standards could quickly render our productsless competitive, or even obsolete. We have
significantly fewer financial, technical,manufacturing, marketing and other resources than many of our competitors and
these limitedresources may harm our business in many ways. For example, in the past several years ourcompetitors
have:
•
acquired other tape library companies;
•
increased the geographic scope of their market;
•
offered a wider range of tape library products; and
•
developed and acquired proprietary software and disk based products that operatein
conjunction with their products and the products of their competitors.
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In the future, our competitors may leverage their greater resources to:
•
develop, manufacture and market products that are less expensive ortechnologically
superior to our products;
•
attend more trade shows and spend more on advertising and marketing;
•
reach a wider array of potential customers through a broader range of
distributionchannels;
•
respond more quickly to new or changing technologies, customer requirements
andstandards; or
•
reduce prices in order to preserve or gain market share.
We believe competitive pressures are likely to continue. We cannot guarantee that ourresources will be sufficient to
address this competition or that we will manage costs and adoptstrategies capable of effectively utilizing our resources. If
we are unable to respond tocompetitive pressures successfully, our prices and profit margins may fall and our market
sharemay decrease.
Our suppliers could reduce shipments of tape drives and tape media. If this occurs, wewould be forced to curtail
production, our revenues could fall and our market sharecould decline.
Automated tape libraries and related products, such as tape drives and tape media,represented approximately 66.2%
of our revenues for fiscal 2006, approximately 75.1% of ourrevenues for fiscal 2005 and approximately 81.4% of our
revenues for fiscal 2004. We dependon a limited number of third-party manufacturers to supply us with the tape drives
and tapemedia that we incorporate into our automated tape libraries. Some tape drive manufacturers,including Sony
Corporation and Quantum Corporation, compete with us by also manufacturingtape libraries. There can be no assurance
that other tape drive manufacturers will not also beginto manufacture libraries.
Historically, some of these suppliers have been unable to meet demand for their productsand have allocated their
limited supply among customers. If suppliers limit our supply of tapedrives or tape media, we may be forced to delay or
cancel shipments of our tape libraries. Themajor supplier risks we face include the following:
•
Sony Electronics, Inc. is our sole-source supplier of AIT and Super AIT drives
andmedia. In the past, Sony has allocated some of their products and may
allocatethem again in the future. In fiscal 2006 we derived approximately $7.9 million
or36.4% of our revenues, in fiscal 2005 we derived approximately $12.0 million,
or47.8%, of our revenues, and in fiscal 2004 we derived approximately
$16.1 million,or 51.1% of revenues from the sale of libraries, tape drives and tape
media basedon Sony AIT and Super AIT technologies. If Sony reduces its sales to us
or raisesits prices, we could lose revenues and our margins could decline.
•

Quantum Corporation is our sole-source supplier of SuperDLT tape drives
andcompetes with us as a manufacturer of automated tape libraries. In the
past,Quantum has allocated quantities of tape drives among its customers. It is
possiblethat Quantum will allocate again, and as a result, may be unable to meet our
futureSuperDLT tape drive requirements.

•

The LTO standard was developed by an industry consortium consisting of
IBM,Hewlett Packard and Quantum/Certance. LTO competes with AIT and otherhalfinch tape drives and media. All three drive suppliers also sell automated tapelibraries
that utilize LTO tape drives and compete with our products. Therefore,even if we
receive adequate allocation, it may be at a price that renders ourproducts
uncompetitive.

Our other suppliers have in the past been, and may in the future be, unable to meet ourdemand, including our needs
for timely delivery, adequate quantity and high quality. We do nothave long-term supply contracts with any of our
significant suppliers. The partial or completeloss of any of our suppliers could result in lost revenue, added costs and
production delays orcould otherwise harm our business and customer relationships.
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Our revenues could decline if we fail to execute our distribution strategy successfully.
We distribute and sell our automated tape libraries primarily through value added resellersand original equipment
manufacturers, and intend to continue this strategy for the foreseeablefuture. Value added resellers integrate our tape
libraries with products of other manufacturersand sell the combined products to their own customers. Original equipment
manufacturerscombine our tape libraries with their own products and sell the combined product under theirown brand. We
currently devote, and intend to continue to devote, significant resources todevelop these relationships. A failure to initiate,
manage and expand our relationships with valueadded resellers or original equipment manufacturers could limit our ability
to grow or sustain ourcurrent level of revenues.
Our focus on the distribution of our products through value added resellers poses thefollowing risks:
•
we may reach fewer customers because we depend on value added resellers
tomarket to end users and these value added resellers may fail to market effectivelyor
fail to devote sufficient or effective sales, marketing and technical support to thesales
of our products;
•

we may lose sales because many of our value added resellers sell products
thatcompete with our products. These value added resellers may reduce
theirmarketing efforts for our products in favor of products manufactured by
ourcompetitors;

•

our costs may increase as value added resellers generally require a higher level
ofcustomer support than do original equipment manufacturers; and
as the market for tape libraries matures, we expect that tape libraries designed
forsmall and medium size businesses will not require the level of sales, marketingand
technical support traditionally provided by value added resellers and,consequently,
tape libraries for these customers will be increasingly sold throughdistribution
channels rather than through value added resellers.

•

We depend upon our original equipment manufacturer customers’ ability to developnew products, applications and
product enhancements that incorporate our products in a timely,cost-effective and customer-friendly manner. We cannot
guarantee that our original equipmentmanufacturer customers will meet these challenges effectively. Original equipment
manufacturerstypically conduct substantial and lengthy evaluation programs before certifying a new product forinclusion in
their product line. We may be required to devote significant financial and humanresources to these evaluation programs
with no assurance that our products will ever beselected. In addition, even if selected by the original equipment
manufacturer, there generally isno requirement that the original equipment manufacturer purchase any particular amount
ofproduct from us or that it refrain from purchasing competing products.
We do not have any exclusive agreements with our value added resellers or originalequipment manufacturers, who
purchase our products on an individual purchase order basis. Ifwe lose important value added resellers or original
equipment manufacturer customers, if theyreduce their focus on our products or if we are unable to obtain additional value
added reselleror original equipment manufacturer customers, our business could suffer.
We rely on tape technology for a substantial part of our revenues. Our business will beharmed if demand for
storage solutions using tape technology declines or fails todevelop as we expect.
We derive a high percentage of our revenues from products that incorporate some form oftape technology. We expect
to derive a high percentage of our revenues from these products forthe foreseeable future. As a result, we will continue to
be subject to the risk of a decrease inrevenues if demand for these products declines or if rising prices make it more
difficult to obtainthem. If products incorporating other technologies gain comparable or superior marketacceptance and
competitive price advantage, our business, financial condition and operatingresults could be adversely and materially
affected unless we successfully develop and marketproducts incorporating the new technology.
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If we fail to develop and introduce new products on a timely and cost-effective basis,or if our products do not
contain the features required by the marketplace, we willeventually lose market share and sales to more
innovative competitors.
The market for our products is characterized by rapidly changing technology and evolvingindustry standards. The
future success of Qualstar will depend on our ability to anticipatechanges in technology, to develop new and enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effectivebasis, and to introduce, manufacture and achieve market acceptance of these new
andenhanced products. In particular, our success will depend on the market acceptance of our newXLS family of
automated tape libraries. Our RLS and TLS families of tape libraries are facingincreasing competition from products
manufactured by our competitors and may face competitionfrom other types of storage devices that may be developed in
the future.
Development schedules for high technology products are inherently subject to uncertaintyand there can be no
assurance we will be able to meet our product development schedules orthat our development costs will be within
budgeted amounts. If the products or productenhancements developed are not deliverable due to technical problems,
quality issues orcomponent shortages, or if such products or product enhancements are not accepted by themarketplace
or are unreliable, then our business, financial condition and results of operationsmay be materially adversely affected.
The introduction of new storage technologies or the adoption of an industry standarddifferent than our current product
standards could render our existing products obsolete.
We depend upon independent software vendors to provide management software thatmakes our tape libraries
functional.
The utility of an automated tape library depends upon the storage management software,which supports the library
and integrates it into the user’s computing environment toprovide a complete storage solution. We do not develop and
have no control over thedevelopment of this storage management software. Instead we rely on third party
independentsoftware vendors to develop and support this software. Accordingly, the continued developmentand future
growth of the market for our products will depend partly upon the success of softwarevendors to meet the overall data
storage and management needs of tape library purchasers andour ability to maintain relationships with these firms.
Although we do not have contracts with anythird party independent software vendors, we maintain relationships with them
by:
•
supplying tape libraries so they can qualify their software to work with our
tapelibraries;
•
evaluating their software for compatibility with our tape libraries;
•
keeping them informed as to current and contemplated changes to ourproducts; and
•

referring business to them when value added resellers or end users inquire
aboutsoftware sources.
We may have to expend significant amounts of time and money defending or settlingproduct liability claims
arising from failures of our tape libraries.
Because our tape library customers use our products to store and backup their importantdata, we face potential
liability if our products fail to perform. Although we maintain generalliability insurance, our insurance may not cover
potential claims of this type or may not beadequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed. Any imposition of
liability that isnot covered by insurance or that exceeds our insurance coverage could reduce our profitabilityor cause us
to discontinue operations.
Undetected flaws could increase our costs, reduce our revenues and divert resourcesfrom our core business
needs.
Our tape libraries are complex. Despite our efforts to revise and update our manufacturingand test processes to
address engineering and component changes, we may not be able tocontrol and eliminate
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manufacturing flaws adequately. These flaws may include undetected software or hardwaredefects associated with:
•
a newly introduced product;
•
a new version of an existing product; or
•
a product that has been integrated into a network storage solution with theproducts of
other vendors.
The variety of contexts in which errors may arise may make it difficult to identify the sourceof a problem. These
problems may:
•
cause us to incur significant warranty, repair and replacement costs;
•
divert the attention of our engineering personnel from our product developmentefforts;
•
cause significant customer relations problems; or
•
damage our reputation.
To address these risks, we frequently revise and update manufacturing and test procedures toaddress engineering and
component changes to our products. If we fail to adequately monitor,develop and implement appropriate test and
manufacturing processes we could experience arate of product failure that results in substantial shipment delays, repair or
replacement costs ordamage to our reputation. Product flaws may also consume our limited engineering resourcesand
interrupt our development efforts. Significant product failures would increase our costs andresult in the loss of future sales
and be harmful to our business.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR POWER SUPPLY BUSINESS
The principal risks applicable specifically to our power supply operating segment aredescribed below.
We depend on a single contract manufacturer for the majority of our power supplies.Loss of this supplier could
harm our business.
The primary supplier of our N2 Power power supplies is located in China. If thismanufacturer should be unable to
deliver products to us on a timely basis or at all, our powersupply business could be adversely affected. Though we have
four years of favorableexperience with this supplier, there can be no assurance that circumstances might not changeand
compel this supplier to curtail or terminate deliveries to us.
Environmental health and safety laws may restrict our operations.
We are subject to local laws and regulations in various regions in which we sell our powersupplies, including the
European Union (“EU”) in particular. A new EU directivemay have a material impact on our business. The Restriction of
Certain Hazardous SubstancesDirective (RoHS), which restricts the distribution of certain substances, including lead,
within theEU, became effective July 1, 2006. We are in the process of transitioning our power supplymanufacturing to a
RoHS compliant process. During the transition, there is risk that some of ourinventory manufactured before the transition
may become unmarketable in the EU, resulting ininventory write downs that could adversely affect our operating results.
Price erosion may have a material adverse effect on our margins and profitability.
The majority of the power supply manufactures that we compete with have substantiallymore resources and more
models available than we do. Additionally the power supply businessis generally characterized by intense competition.
There can be no assurances that a competitorwill not choose to use such resources to underprice our products in the
market, therebyadversely affecting our sales or margins.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our headquarters, located in Simi Valley, California, consists of a single building containingapproximately
57,000 square feet housing our manufacturing, sales and marketing, finance andadministration and approximately half of
our engineering. Our lease on this facility expires inFebruary 2011, with an early termination option becoming available in
February of 2007. Renton this facility is $39,000 per month, with step-ups ranging from $2,400 to $2,800 per monthevery
two years.
We also lease approximately 4,300 square feet of office space in Boulder, Colorado, thathouses our Advanced
Development Group. The lease of the Boulder, Colorado facility expires in2007. Subsequent to June 30, 2006, we
extended the Colorado facility lease through May 2009.Additionally, we have a sales office in Surrey, United Kingdom.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are from time to time involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in theordinary course of
business. At this time, we are not aware of any pending or threatenedlitigation against us that we expect will have a
material adverse effect on our business, financialcondition, liquidity or operating results. Legal claims are inherently
uncertain, however. Wecannot assure you that we will not be adversely affected in the future by legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SHAREHOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of thefiscal year ended June 30,
2006.

PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATEDSTOCKHOLDER
MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITYSECURITIES
Qualstar’s common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Market (NASDAQSymbol — QBAK). The following table
sets forth the high and low closing sale prices ofour common stock as reported by NASDAQ, during the periods indicated:
Period

Date Range

High

Low

$ 4.51

$ 3.55

$ 5.00

$ 3.21

Fiscal 2006:

Second Quarter

July 1 —September, 30,
2005
October 1 —December 31,
2005

Third Quarter

January 1 —March 31, 2006

$ 4.50

$ 3.30

April 1 — June 30,2006

$ 4.20

$ 3.00

First Quarter

Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2005:

$ 6.44

$ 5.00

Second Quarter

July 1 —September, 30,
2004
October 1 —December 31,
2004

$ 6.94

$ 4.33

Third Quarter

January 1 —March 31, 2005

$ 5.00

$ 4.00

First Quarter

Fourth Quarter
April 1 — June 30,2005
$ 4.55
$ 3.53
There were approximately 47 owners of record of Qualstar’s common stock as ofSeptember 15, 2006.
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Qualstar has declared no cash dividends during the periods reported. Qualstar does notcurrently anticipate paying
cash dividends in the foreseeable future, but intends to retain anyfuture earnings for reinvestment in its business. Any
future determination to pay cash dividendswill be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon
Qualstar’sfinancial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, terms of any debt instrumentsthen in effect and
such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant at the time.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data is qualified in its entirety by and should be read inconjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionand Results of Operations” and the financial statements
and notes thereto includedelsewhere in this 10-K. Our historical financial results are not necessarily indicative of results
tobe expected for any future period.
Years Ended June 30,
2005
2004
2003
(In thousands, expect per share amounts)

2006

Statements of
IncomeData:
Net revenues
$
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research
anddevelopment
Sales and marketing
General
andadministrative
Total
operatingexpenses
Income (loss)
fromoperations
Investment income
Impairment loss forotherthan-temporarydecline
in investments
Income (loss)
beforeincome taxes
Provision (benefit)
forincome taxes
Net income (loss)
$
Earnings (loss) pershare:
Basic
$
Diluted
$
Shares used tocompute
earnings(loss) per
share:
Basic
Diluted

21,731
14,856
6,875

$

25,144
16,529
8,615

$ 31,530
19,575
11,955

3,083
3,213

3,750
3,350

4,268
3,607

3,994
3,834

2,136
3,048

3,629

3,955

5,420

4,428

5,222

9,925

11,055

13,295

12,256

10,406

(3,050)
1,269

(2,440)
858

(1,340)
624

130
693

3,472
1,133

(160)

—

—

(876)

823

4,605

—

—

(1,781)

(1,582)

$

2002

33,557
21,171
12,386

$

37,631
23,753
13,878

(89)
(1,692)

$

65
(1,647)

$

(145)
(731)

$

274
549

$

1,845
2,760

(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$

(0.13)
(0.13)

$
$

(0.06)
(0.06)

$
$

0.04
0.04

$
$

0.22
0.22

12,253
12,253
2006

12,398
12,398
2005

12,577
12,577
June 30,
2004
(In thousands)

12,579
12,666

12,475
12,664

2003

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
6,845
$ 12,210
$
6,401
$
6,236
$
Marketable securities
26,822
21,854
29,376
29,857
Working capital
29,012*
25,121*
46,534
47,191
Total assets
45,399
47,223
51,647
52,096
Total debt
—
—
—
—
Shareholders’ equity
42,858
44,653
48,064
48,868
* In fiscal 2006 and 2005, certain marketable securities were reclassified to long-term assets.

2002

4,859
25,987
46,507
50,758
—
47,973
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OFFINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financialstatements and notes thereto.
OVERVIEW
We design, develop, manufacture and sell automated magnetic tape libraries used to store,retrieve and manage
electronic data primarily in network computing environments. We offer tapelibraries for multiple tape drive technologies,
including LTO, AIT, Super AIT, and SuperDLT tapedrives and media.
Many enterprises now routinely manage very large databases, in addition to storinginformation on local desktop
computers. This, coupled with the growth in the amount of datafrom new sources and applications, is increasing the need
for managing and storing dataefficiently. Anticipating the increased demand for tape libraries, we have developed tape
librariesspanning a broad range of tape formats, prices, capacity and performance. We expect ourproducts to continue to
evolve in the future in response to emerging tape technologies andchanging customer preferences.
We have developed a network of value added resellers who specialize in deliveringcomplete storage solutions to end
users. End users of our products range from smallbusinesses requiring simple automated backup solutions to large
organizations needing complexstorage management solutions. We also sell our products to original equipment
manufacturerswho bundle our products with their own and sell them as part of a complete system or solution.We assist
our customers with marketing, sales and technical support.
Our international sales efforts are currently directed from our corporate offices in Simi Valley,California. European
sales are coordinated through our European sales office in the UnitedKingdom. All of our international sales are
denominated in U.S. dollars. Revenues from salesoutside North America were approximately $5.7 million, or 26.1% of
revenues in fiscal 2006,approximately $6.9 million, or 27.3% of revenues in fiscal 2005, and approximately
$10.2 million,or 32.4% of revenues in fiscal 2004.
We also design, develop, manufacture and sell ultra small high-efficiency open-frameswitching power supplies for
original equipment manufacturers of telecommunications equipment,servers, routers, switches, RAIDs, and other
equipment. Our power supplies are sold under theN2Power brand name through independent sales representatives and a
private distributor. Theprimary customers are original equipment manufacturers and contract manufacturers.
Net revenues include revenues from the sale of tape libraries, library tape drives, tapecartridges, ancillary products,
and power supplies. Ancillary revenues include service, repair, andon-site service agreements net of the cost of any third
party service contracts. Automated tapelibraries and related products, such as tape drives and tape media, represented
approximately66.2% of revenues in fiscal 2006, approximately 75.1% of revenues in fiscal 2005, andapproximately 81.4%
of revenues in fiscal 2004. Sales of ancillary products and services, andpower supplies accounted for the balance of our
revenues.
Gross margins depend on several factors, including the cost of manufacturing, product mix,customer demand and the
level of competition. Larger tape libraries provide higher grossmargins than do smaller tape libraries primarily because the
competition is less intense in thismarket segment.
Research and development activities include the design and development of new products,as well as enhancements
to existing products. Our engineering group is developing our nextgeneration of automated tape libraries, currently in
transition from the development phase to theproduction phase, with manufacturing now set up in our Simi Valley facility.
We expect researchand development expenses to stay approximately the same in absolute dollars in fiscal 2007.
We expect general and administrative expenses to decrease slightly in absolute dollars infiscal 2007. We expect
sales and marketing expenses to increase in fiscal 2007 due toadditional expenses associated with bringing our next
generation tape libraries to market.
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We recorded deferred compensation of approximately $1.7 million in the third quarter offiscal 2000, representing the
difference between the exercise price of stock options andrestricted stock granted to employees and directors during
fiscal 2000 and the deemed fair valuefor accounting purposes of our common stock on the grant dates. Amortization of
deferredcompensation, which was recorded as general and administrative expense in the statement ofoperations, was $0
in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 and approximately $140,000 in fiscal 2004.The deferred compensation related to these
stock options and restricted stock was fullyamortized as of June 30, 2004.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is basedupon our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accountingprincipals generally accepted in the United States. The
preparation of these financial statementsrequires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets,liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Onan on-going basis,
we evaluate our estimates, including those related to customer promotionaloffers, sales returns, bad debts, inventories,
warranty costs, investments, and income taxes. Webase our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believedto be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
makingjudgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent fromother sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions orconditions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgmentsand estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized upon shipment of product to our customers, less estimated returns,for which provision is
made at the time of sale. Title and risk of loss transfer to the customerwhen the product leaves our dock in Simi Valley,
California, or another shipping locationdesignated by us. In general, these customers are allowed to return the product,
free of penalty,within thirty days of shipment, if the product does not meet the end user’s requirements.
We record an allowance for estimated sales returns based on past experience and currentknowledge of our customer
base. Our experience has been such that only a very smallpercentage of libraries are returned. Should our experience
change, however, we may requireadditional allowances for sales returns.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts based on an assessment of thecollectibility of specific accounts and
the overall condition of accounts receivable. In evaluatingthe adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we analyze
specific trade receivables,historical bad debts, customer credits, customer credit-worthiness and changes incustomers’
payment terms and patterns. If the financial condition of our customers wereto deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make additional payments, then wemay need to make additional allowances. Likewise, if we determine that
we could realize moreof our receivables in the future than previously estimated, we would adjust the allowance toincrease
income in the period we made this determination.
Inventory Valuation
We record inventories at the lower of cost or market value. We assess the value of ourinventories periodically based
upon numerous factors including expected product or materialdemand, current market conditions, technological
obsolescence, current cost and net realizablevalue. If necessary, we write down our inventory for estimated
obsolescence, potentialshrinkage, or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory andthe
estimated market value based upon assumptions about
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future demand and market conditions. If technology changes more rapidly than expected, ormarket conditions become
less favorable than those projected by management, additionalinventory write-downs may be required.
Warranty Obligations
We provide for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized.We engage in extensive
product quality programs and processes, including active monitoringand evaluation of product failure rates, material usage
and estimation of service delivery costsincurred in correcting a product failure. However, should actual product failure
rates, materialusage, or service delivery costs differ from our estimates, revisions to the estimated warrantyliability would
be required. Historically our warranty costs have not been significant.
Share-Based Compensation
Share-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with SFAS 123R,“Share-Based Payment.” We use the
Black-Scholes option pricing model todetermine fair value of the award at the date of grant and recognize compensation
expenseover the vesting period. The inputs we use for the model require the use of judgement,estimates and
assumptions regarding the expected volatility of the stock, the expected term theaverage employee will hold the option
prior to the date of exercise, and the amount ofshare-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. Changes in these
inputs andassumptions could occur and actual results could differ from these estimates, and our results ofoperations
could be materially impacted.
Accounting for Income Taxes
We estimate our tax liability based on current tax laws in the statutory jurisdictions in whichwe operate. These
estimates include judgments about deferred tax assets and liabilities resultingfrom temporary differences between assets
and liabilities recognized for financial reportingpurposes and such amounts recognized for tax purposes, as well as about
the realization ofdeferred tax assets.
We maintain a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets due to the uncertaintysurrounding the timing of
realizing the benefits of net deferred tax assets in future years. Wehave considered future taxable income and ongoing
prudent and feasible tax planning strategiesin assessing the need for such a valuation allowance. In the event we were to
determine thatwe would be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax asset in the future, the valuationallowance
would be decreased accordingly.
We may periodically undergo examinations by the federal and state regulatory authoritiesand the Internal Revenue
Service. We may be assessed additional taxes and or penaltiescontingent on the outcome of these examinations. Our
previous examinations have not resultedin any unfavorable or significant assessments.
The Company had fiscal 2002 under audit by the Internal Revenue Service(“IRS”) for which the IRS issued a no
change letter in the quarter endedMarch 31, 2005.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table reflects, as a percentage of net revenues, statements of operations datafor the periods indicated:
2006

Years Ended June 30,
2005

2004

Net revenues
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
Cost of goods sold
68.4
65.7
62.1
Gross margin
31.6
34.3
37.9
Operating expenses:
Research and development
14.2
14.9
13.5
Sales and marketing
14.8
13.4
11.4
General and administrative
16.7
15.7
17.2
Loss from operations
(14.1)
(9.7)
(4.2)
Investment income
5.8
3.4
2.0
Impairment loss for other-than-temporary declinein
—
(0.6)
investments
—
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes
(8.3)
(6.3)
(2.8)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
(0.4)
0.3
(0.5)
Net loss
(7.9)%
(6.6)%
(2.3)%
Revenues are recognized upon shipment of the product to the customer, less estimatedreturns, for which provision is
made at the time of sale. The following table summarizes ourrevenue by major product line:
2006

Tape Library revenues:
TLS
RLS
Other revenues:
Service
Media
Power Supplies
Upgrades, Spares, 9 Track

Years Ended June 30,
2005

42.6%
12.2
54.8

51.7%
13.1
64.8

2004

56.4%
15.5
71.9

14.5
10.5
7.6
11.4
10.3
9.5
11.9
5.1
1.8
7.4
9.3
9.2
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005
Net Revenues. Net revenues decreased from $25.1 million in fiscal 2005 to $21.7 million infiscal 2006. The decrease of
approximately $3.4 million, or 13.5% is attributed to declining unitsales of our older tape library products in the TLS and
RLS product lines, incorporating AIT,SAIT, DLT, and LTO tape technology, in conjunction with lower average unit selling
prices,partially offset by increased service and power supply revenue. Power supply revenue hasdoubled year over year
while service revenue increased by approximately 19%.
Revenues from tape libraries and drives decreased to $11.9 million, or 54.8% of revenues, inthe year ended June 30,
2006, from $16.3 million, or 64.8% of revenues, in the year endedJune 30, 2005. We anticipate sales of our new
enterprise-level XLS product line to contribute totape library revenues in fiscal 2007. We also expect continued growth as
a percentage of salesin our power supply revenues during fiscal 2007. We expect service revenue to remain flat as
apercentage of sales in fiscal 2007.
Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased from $8.6 million in fiscal 2005 to $6.9 million in fiscal2006. The decrease of
approximately $1.7 million, or 20.2%, is primarily due to lower revenuesresulting in lower absorption of manufacturing
overhead expenses, additional inventory reservesand lower average selling
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prices. We expect our gross margin percentage in the first half of fiscal 2007 to decrease, andthen increase slightly as the
XLS product line sales increase in the second half of fiscal 2007.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses decreased from$3.8 million in fiscal 2005 to
$3.1 million in fiscal 2006. The decrease of approximately$0.7 million, or 17.8%, is due primarily to lower salaries
associated with a decrease inheadcount, as our XLS product line transitioned from the development phase to the
designverification phase, lower prototype material costs and lower consulting fees. We anticipateresearch and
development expenses to remain the same in fiscal 2007.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased from $3.4 million in fiscal 2005to $3.2 million in fiscal
2006. The decrease of approximately $0.2 million, or 4.1%, can beattributed primarily to a decrease in promotion and
travel related expenses. We expect salesand marketing expenses to increase in fiscal 2007 related to the launch of our
XLS product line.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased from $4.0 millionin fiscal 2005 to
$3.6 million in fiscal 2006. The decrease of approximately $0.4 million, or 8.2%,is due to lower legal and bad debt
expenses. We anticipate that general and administrativeexpenses will remain the same in fiscal 2007.
Investment Income. Investment income increased to $1.3 million in fiscal 2006 from$0.9 million in fiscal 2005. The
increase of $0.4 million, or 48% is due to higher averageshort-term security balances combined with higher short-term
yields available during the risinginterest rate environment during fiscal 2006. We anticipate investment income to remain
flat infiscal 2007.
Provision for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes decreased from $0.1 million in fiscal2005 to a benefit for
income taxes of $0.1 million in fiscal 2006. The decrease of $0.2 million isdue to the reversal of a reserve established in
fiscal 2005 against research and developmentcredits that were refunded in fiscal 2006.
Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004
Net Revenues. Revenues for the year ended June 30, 2005 were $25.1 million, a decrease of20.3% compared to net
revenues of $31.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2004.
The decrease in revenues was due primarily to a decline in the demand for our tape librariesusing 8mm AIT tape
technology and to a lesser extent, half inch tape technology. Revenuesfrom libraries incorporating AIT tape technology
were lower due to customer preferences shiftingto the higher capacity half inch technology tape drives, caused, in part, by
the delayedavailability of AIT4 tape drives. Moreover, when AIT4 tape drives did become available, theywere not
backward read-write compatible with earlier generations of AIT tape drives. Both ofthese factors negatively impacted our
upgrade business in our large AIT customer base.Revenues incorporating half inch technology exceeded revenues
incorporating 8mm technologyin absolute dollars in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2004, by comparison, revenues were divided
aboutevenly between 8mm and half inch tape technologies in absolute dollars. However, revenuesfrom libraries
incorporating half inch technology decreased from fiscal 2004 as the second andthird quarters of fiscal 2004 benefited
from a large non-recurring library order of approximately$2.5 million.
Revenues from tape libraries and drives decreased to $16.3 million, or 64.8% of revenues, inthe year ended June 30,
2005 from $22.7 million, or 71.9% of revenues, in the year endedJune 30, 2004. Although selling prices of our libraries
dropped during fiscal 2005, averageselling prices of libraries increased during fiscal 2005 due to a change in product mix.
Gross Profit. Gross profit was $8.6 million, or 34.3% of revenues, for the year ended June 30,2005, compared to
$12.0 million, or 37.9% of revenues, for fiscal 2004. The decrease in grossmargin as a percentage of revenues was
attributed to lower manufacturing overhead absorptiondue to lower revenues as well as to lower selling prices due to
greater competitive pricingpressures.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses for the year endedJune 30, 2005 decreased to
$3.8 million or 14.9% of revenues as compared to $4.3 million or13.5% of revenues for the
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year ended June 30, 2004. This decrease in absolute dollars was due primarily to lowerprototype material costs and
salaries, partly offset by higher consulting costs, as the nextgeneration of tape libraries transitions from the development
phase to the pilot production phase.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $3.4 million, or 13.3% ofrevenues for the year ended
June 30, 2005, as compared to $3.6 million, or 11.4% of revenues,for the year ended June 30, 2004. The decrease in
absolute dollars can be attributed primarilyto a reduction in advertising and outside commission expenses.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased to $4.0 million,or 15.7% of revenues for
the year ended June 30, 2005 as compared to $5.4 million, or 17.2%of revenues for the year ended June 30, 2004. The
decrease in general and administrativeexpenses was due to lower legal expenses attributed to the settlement of the
Raytheon lawsuitin April 2004, lower bad debt expense and the absence of deferred stock compensation.
Investment Income and Impairment Loss for Other-than-Temporary Decline inInvestments. Investment income
increased to $858,000 for the year ended June 30, 2005 ascompared to net investment income of $464,000 in fiscal
2004. The increase is attributed tolowering the average duration of our portfolio to capture the higher short-term yields
available inthe current higher interest rate environment. In addition, an impairment loss forother-than-temporary decline in
investments of $160,000 was recognized in fiscal 2004earnings due to the adoption of Emerging Issues Task Force
No. 03-1.
Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes was $65,000, or -4.1% ofpre-tax loss, for fiscal 2005
compared to a benefit of $145,000, or 16.6% of pre-tax loss, forfiscal 2004. The provision for income taxes in fiscal 2005
can be primarily attributed toestablishing full valuation allowances against net deferred tax assets based on our
assessmentregarding the realizability of these benefits in future years offset by the recognition of researchand
development credits to be received. In fiscal 2004, the low effective tax benefit rate wasprimarily attributed to establishing
valuation allowances for capital losses realized on a tax basisin fiscal 2004 and net operating loss carryforwards.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash used by operating activities was $0.0 million in fiscal 2006, and cash provided byoperating activities was
$0.2 million in fiscal 2005 and $0.3 million in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2006,a breakeven in operating cash resulted from the
receipt of research and development creditrefunds and a decrease in accounts receivable, offset by a net loss for the
year. In fiscal 2005,operating cash was primarily provided by refunds of fiscal 2002 federal and state income taxespaid
and a decrease in accounts receivable, offset partially by decreases in accounts payableand other accrued liabilities. In
fiscal 2004, operating cash was primarily provided by a refund offiscal 2003 income taxes paid and increases in accounts
payable and other accrued liabilities,offset partially by increases in accounts receivable and inventories.
Cash used in investing activities was $5.3 million in fiscal 2006, and cash provided byinvesting activities was
$7.3 million in fiscal 2005 and cash used in investing activities was$15,000 in fiscal 2004. Cash used in investing activities
in fiscal 2006 related primarily to thepurchase of marketable securities and equipment partially offset by sales of
marketablesecurities. Cash provided by investing activities in fiscal 2005 related primarily to sales ofmarketable securities
partially offset by purchases of equipment. Cash used in investingactivities in fiscal 2004 related primarily to purchases of
marketable securities as well asequipment and leasehold improvements.
Cash used in financing activities was $0.0 million in fiscal 2006, $1.7 million in fiscal 2005and $0.1 million in fiscal
2004. Cash used in financing activities for fiscal 2005 and 2004, relatedprimarily to repurchasing shares of the Company’s
common stock.
As of June 30, 2006, we had $6.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and $26.8 million inmarketable securities. We
believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and fundsavailable from the sale of our
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marketable securities, will be sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure needsfor at least the next
12 months. We may utilize cash to invest in businesses, products ortechnologies that we believe are strategic. We
regularly evaluate other companies andtechnologies for possible investment by us. In addition, we have made and may in
the futuremake investments in companies with whom we have identified potential synergies. However, wehave no present
commitments or agreements with respect to any material acquisition of otherbusinesses or technologies.
SUMMARY OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
The following is a summary of our future payments due under contractual obligations as ofJune 30, 2006:
Operating

Purchase

Leases

Obligations
(In thousands)

YearEndedJune 30

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

Total

$

592
$
1,698
$ 2,289
554
—
554
570
—
570
588
—
588
307
—
307
$ 2,611
$
1,698
$ 4,308
Purchase obligations in the table above represent the value of open purchase orders as ofJune 30, 2006. We believe
that some of these obligations could be canceled for payment of anominal penalty or no penalty; however, the amount of
open purchase orders that could becanceled under such terms is difficult to quantify.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKET RISK
We develop products in the United States and sell them worldwide. As a result, our financialresults could be affected
by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates orweak economic conditions in foreign markets. As all
sales are currently made in U.S. dollars, astrengthening of the dollar could make our products less competitive in foreign
markets. Ourinterest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularlysince the
majority of our investments are in shorter duration securities. We have no outstandingdebt nor do we utilize derivative
financial instruments. Therefore, no quantitative tabulardisclosures are required.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Qualstar Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Qualstar Corporation asof June 30, 2006 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations,shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period endedJune 30, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’smanagement.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based onour audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanyAccounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free ofmaterial misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company’sinternal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control overfinancial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in thecircumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of theCompany’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no suchopinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
anddisclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significantestimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Webelieve that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all materialrespects, the consolidated
financial position of Qualstar Corporation at June 30, 2006 and 2005,and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years inthe period ended June 30, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accountingprinciples.
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in fiscal 2006 the Company changed itsmethod of accounting for
share-based compensation.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Woodland Hills, California
September 15, 2006
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)
June 30,
2006

2005

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities, short-term
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $118 at June 30,2006
and $248 at June 30, 2005
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid income taxes
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Marketable securities, long-term
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000 shares authorized; noshares
issued
Common stock, no par value; 50,000 shares
authorized,12,253 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30,
2006and June 30, 2005, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
$
See accompanying notes
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6,845
14,040
2,700
7,298
511
159
31,553
924
12,782
140
45,399

783
466
1,292
2,541

$

$

$

—

18,503
(395)
24,750
42,858
45,399

12,210
3,700
3,532
7,157
452
640
27,691
1,188
18,154
190
47,223

763
496
1,311
2,570

—

$

18,370
(159)
26,442
44,653
47,223
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
2006

Years Ended June 30,
2005

Net revenues
$ 21,731
$
Cost of goods sold
14,856
Gross profit
6,875
Operating expenses:
Research and development
3,083
Sales and marketing
3,213
General and administrative
3,629
Total operating expenses
9,925
Loss from operations
(3,050)
Investment income
1,269
Impairment loss for other-than-temporary decline
ininvestments
—
Loss before income taxes
(1,781)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
(89)
Net Loss
$
(1,692)
$
Loss per share:
Basic
$
(0.14)
$
Diluted
$
(0.14)
$
Shares used to compute loss per share:
Basic
12,253
Diluted
12,253
See accompanying notes
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25,144
16,529
8,615

2004

$ 31,530
19,575
11,955

3,750
3,350
3,955
11,055
(2,440)
858

4,268
3,607
5,420
13,295
(1,340)
624

—
(1,582)
65
(1,647)

$

(160)
(876)
(145)
(731)

(0.13)
(0.13)

$
$

(0.06)
(0.06)

12,398
12,398

12,577
12,577
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Balances at
June 30,2003
Exercise of
stockoptions
Retirement of
sharespursuant to
stockrepurchase
Amortization
ofdeferredcompensati
on

12,640

$

Notes
from
Director

Deferred
Compensation

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

20,366

$

(140)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensiv
Income
(Loss)

$

(156)

$

(22)

Retained
Earnings

$

Total

28,820

$

48,868

19

69

—

—

—

—

69

(63)

(314)

—

—

—

—

(314)

—

—

—

140

(6)

—

—

—

—

—

140

—

—

—

—

—

—

117

—

—

—

—

—

—

Change inunrealized
gains(losses)
oninvestments

—

—

—

—

(239)

—

(239)

Impairment loss
forother-thantemporary declinein
investments

—

—

—

—

160

—

160

Accrued interest
ondirectors’notes
Principal and
interestpayments
ondirectors’notes
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss

Comprehensiveloss
Balances at
June 30,2004
Exercise of
stockoptions
Retirement of
sharespursuant to
stockrepurchase
Principal and
interestpayments
ondirectors’notes
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Change inunrealized
gains(losses)
oninvestments
Comprehensiveloss
Balances at
June 30,2005
Stock
basedcompensation
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss

(6)

117

(731)

(731)

(810)
12,596

$

16

20,121

$

76

(359)

(1,827)

—

$

(45)

$

(101)

$

28,089

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

45

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(58)

$

48,064
76

(1,827)

45

(1,647)

(1,647)

—

(58)
(1,705)

12,253

$

18,370

$

—

$

—

$

(159)

—

133

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

26,442
—
(1,692)

$

44,653
133
(1,692)

Change inunrealized
gains(losses)
oninvestments
Comprehensiveloss
Balances at
June 30,2006

—

12,253

—

$

18,503

—

$

—

—

$

See accompanying notes
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—

(236)

$

(395)

—

$

24,750

(236)
(1,928)
$

42,858
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Years Ended June 30,
2005

2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cashprovided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) bad debts andreturns
Stock based compensation
Amortization of deferred compensation
Impairment loss for other-than-temporarydecline
in investments
Accrued interest on directors’ notes
Gain on sale of securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Prepaid income taxes and income
taxespayable
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of equipment and
leaseholdimprovements
Purchases of marketable securities
Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

$

(1,692)

$

(1,647)

2004

$

(731)

454
—

463
436

423
312

(31)
133
—

38
—
—

186
—
140

—
—
—

—
—
(11)

160
(6)
—

863
(141)
(57)

1,058
261
29

(279)
(327)
(222)

481
20
(30)
(19)
(19)

432
(408)
(4)
(443)
204

264
35
68
285
308

(142)
(13,204)
8,000
(5,346)

(164)
(22,277)
29,752
7,311

(257)
(41,123)
41,365
(15)

Principal and interest payments ondirectors’ notes
—
45
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
—
76
Repurchase of common stock
—
(1,827)
Net cash used in financing activities
—
(1,706)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
ANDCASH EQUIVALENTS
(5,365)
5,809
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNINGOF
PERIOD
12,210
6,401
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END
OFPERIOD
$
6,845
$ 12,210
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Income taxes paid
$
2
$
5
See accompanying notes
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117
69
(314)
(128)
165
6,236
$

6,401

$

12
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Accounting Policies
Business
Qualstar Corporation (“Qualstar”) was incorporated in California in 1984 todevelop and manufacture IBM compatible
9-track reel-to-reel tape drives for the personalcomputer and workstation marketplaces. Since 1995, Qualstar has focused
its efforts ondesigning, developing, manufacturing and selling automated magnetic tape libraries used tostore, retrieve
and manage electronic data primarily in the network computing environment. Tapelibraries consist of cartridge tape
drives, tape cartridges and robotics to move the tape cartridgesfrom their storage locations to the tape drives under
software control. Qualstar’s librariesprovide storage solutions for organizations requiring backup, recovery, and archival
storage ofcritical electronic information. Qualstar’s tape libraries are compatible with commonlyused operating systems,
including UNIX, Windows and Linux and a wide range of storagemanagement software. Qualstar offers tape libraries for
multiple tape drive technologies,including those using LTO, AIT, Super AIT, and SuperDLT.
In July 2002, Qualstar purchased the assets of N2Power, Incorporated, a supplier of ultrasmall high efficiency open
frame switching power supplies. Power supplies are sold with theN2Power brand name as well as under a private label
brand name to original equipmentmanufacturers. In addition, they are utilized in Qualstar’s tape library products.
Accounting Principles
The financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance withaccounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of Qualstar andits wholly owned
subsidiary. All significant intercompany accounts have been eliminated.
Estimates and Assumptions
Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptionsthat affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Examples includeestimates of loss contingencies, product life
cycles and inventory obsolescence, bad debts, salesreturns, stock-based compensation forfeiture rates; the potential
outcome of future taxconsequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns;and
determining when investment impairments are other-than-temporary. Actual results andoutcomes may differ from
management’s estimates and assumptions.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery hasoccurred, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured (less estimatedreturns, for which provisions are made at the time of
sale) in accordance with Staff AccountingBulletin (“SAB”) 104, Revenue Recognition. The provision for estimated returns
ismade based on known claims and estimates of additional returns based on historical data.Revenues from technical
support services and other services are recognized at the time theservices are performed. Revenues from service
contracts entered into with third party serviceproviders are recognized at the time of sale, net of costs.
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Qualstar classifies as cash equivalents only cash and those investments that are highlyliquid, interest earning
investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date ofpurchase.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist primarily of high-quality U.S. corporate securities andU.S. federal government debt
securities. Our marketable securities portfolio consists ofshort-term securities with original maturities of greater than three
months from the date ofpurchase and remaining maturities of less than one year and longer term securities with
originalmaturities of greater than one year and less than five years. Marketable securities are classifiedas available for
sale and are recorded at market value using the specific identification method;unrealized gains and losses (excluding
other-than-temporary impairments) are reflected in othercomprehensive income until realized; realized gains and losses
are included in earnings whenthe underlying securities are sold and are derived using the specific identification method
fordetermining the cost of securities sold. No significant gains or losses from the sale ofmarketable securities were
recorded in fiscal years 2006 and 2005. All of Qualstar’smarketable securities were classified as available-for-sale at
June 30, 2006 and 2005.
On March 31, 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on IssueNo. 03-1, “The Meaning
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application toCertain Investments”, (EIFT 03-1) effective for annual financial
statements with fiscalyears ending after June 15, 2004. EITF 03-1 provides guidance for determining when aninvestment
is other-than-temporarily impaired, and states that an investment is consideredother-than-temporarily impaired when its
fair value is less than its amortized cost basis and isdeemed other than temporary. The application of EITF 03-1 to the
Company’smarketable securities portfolio resulted in the identification of an other-than-temporarily impairedinvestment as
of June 30, 2004. In accordance with EITF 03-1, the Company recognized animpairment loss for other-than-temporary
decline in investments of $160,000 in earnings equalto the difference between the amortized cost basis and its fair value
as of June 30, 2004.
Concentration of Credit Risk, Other Concentration Risks and Significant Customers
Qualstar sells its products primarily through a variety of market channels including originalequipment manufacturers
(OEM) and value added resellers (VAR) located worldwide. Ongoingcredit evaluations of customers’ financial condition
are performed by Qualstar, andgenerally, collateral is not required. Potential uncollectible accounts have been provided
for inthe financial statements.
Sales outside of North America represented approximately 26.1% of net revenues in fiscal2006, approximately 27.3%
of net revenues in fiscal 2005 and approximately 32.4% of netrevenues in fiscal 2004. Revenues from Qualstar’s two
largest customers combined wereapproximately 13.4%, 13.9%, and 14.6% for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, and
2004,respectively. At June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the two largest customer’s accountsreceivable, net of specific
allowances, totaled approximately 20.8%, 18.7% and 22.4% of netaccounts receivable, respectively.
Suppliers
Sales and costs of goods sold related to tape library products purchased from one suppliertotaled approximately
36.4% and 34.1%in fiscal 2006, 47.8% and 41.0% in fiscal 2005, and51.1% and 41.3% in fiscal 2004, respectively, of total
sales and cost of goods sold.
The primary supplier of our N2 Power power supplies is located in China. If thismanufacturer should be unable to
deliver products to us in a timely basis or at all, our powersupply business could be adversely
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
affected. Though we have four years of favorable experience with this supplier, there can be noassurance that
circumstances might not change and compel this supplier to curtail or terminatedeliveries to us.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects our best estimate of probable losses inherent inthe accounts receivable
balance. We determine the allowance based on known troubledaccounts, historical experience, and other currently
available evidence. Activity in the allowancefor doubtful accounts was as follows:

Description

Year
EndedJune 30,
Year
EndedJune 30,
Year
EndedJune 30,

Charged
to Costs
and
Expenses

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Charged
to Other
Accounts

Balance at
End of
Period

Deductions(1)

$

248,000

$

(31,000)

$

—

$

(167,000)

$

50,000

$

217,000

$

38,000

$

—

$

(7,000)

$

248,000

$ 260,000
$ 186,000
$
—
$ (229,000) $ 217,000
(1) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market. Cost includesmaterials, labor, and
manufacturing overhead related to the purchase and production ofinventories. We regularly review inventory quantities on
hand, future purchase commitments withour suppliers, and the estimated utility of our inventory. If our review indicates a
reduction inutility below carrying value, we reduce our inventory to a new cost basis.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense is computed using thestraight-line method.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimateduseful life of the asset or the term of the lease.
Estimated useful lives are as follows:
Machinery and equipment
5-7 years
Furniture and fixtures
5-7 years
Computer equipment
3-5 years
Expenditures for normal maintenance and repair are charged to expense as incurred, andimprovements are
capitalized. Upon the sale or retirement of property or equipment, the assetcost and related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the respective accounts and anygain or loss is included in the results of operations.
Long-Lived Assets
Qualstar reviews the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes incircumstances indicate the
carrying amount of any asset may not be recoverable, in accordancewith The Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting forthe Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” An impairment loss would
berecognized when the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the useof the asset and its
eventual disposition is less than the carrying amount. If an impairment isindicated, the amount of the loss to be recorded
is based upon an estimate of the differencebetween the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. Fair value is
based upondiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual dispositionand other
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
valuation methods. There were no impairment losses of long-lived assets recognized during theperiods presented.
Shipping and Handling Costs
Qualstar generally records all charges for outbound shipping and handling as revenue. Allinbound shipping and
fulfillment costs are classified as costs of goods sold.
Warranty Obligations
Qualstar provides a three year warranty period on its tape libraries. Some TLS and all RLSmodels have three year
advance replacement warranty coverage that provides for replacementof components, or if necessary, complete libraries.
All other TLS models have a one yearadvance replacement warranty with the second and third year being return-tofactory for serviceat no charge. A provision for costs related to warranty expense is recorded when revenue isrecognized,
which is estimated based on historical warranty costs incurred. Customers maypurchase extended advance replacement
service coverage and on-site service if they arelocated in the United States, Canada and most countries within Europe.
In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued InterpretationNo. 45 (FIN 45),
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements forGuarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of the Indebtedness
of Others,” which clarifiesthe requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 5,“Accounting for
Contingencies,” relating to a guarantor’s accounting forand disclosures for certain guarantees. FIN 45 requires enhanced
disclosures, among otherthings, for certain guarantees, including warranty accruals. Qualstar does not issue third
partyguarantees, as defined, and therefore only the disclosure provisions of FIN 45 apply. Qualstaradopted FIN 45 for the
year ended June 30, 2003, and the adoption has had no impact onQualstar’s financial position or results of operations.
Accrued warranty obligations were$173,000 and $133,000 as of June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Additional
disclosures havenot been provided as the Company’s warranty accrual and warranty expense is notmaterial in any of the
periods presented.
Research and Development
All research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred. These costsconsist primarily of engineering
salaries, benefits, outside consultant fees, purchased parts andsupplies directly involved in the design and development
of new products, and facilities andother internal costs.
Advertising
Advertising and promotion expenses include costs associated with direct and indirectmarketing, trade shows and
public relations. Qualstar expenses all costs of advertising andpromotion as incurred. Advertising and promotion
expenses for the years ended June 30, 2006,2005 and 2004 were approximately $407,000, $520,000, and $601,000,
respectively.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents,accounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate their fair values due to the short termnature of these financial instruments.
Change in Accounting Principle and Share-Based Compensation
Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard(“SFAS”) No. 123(R), share-based
payment, using the modified prospectiveapplication transition method. The adoption of
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
SFAS No. 123(R) had the impact of increasing our loss from operations, loss before incometaxes, and net loss by
$133,000, (or $ (0.01) per basic and diluted loss per share) in fiscal2006, and the amounts recognized as stock based
compensation expense are similar to theamounts reported historically in the Company’s footnotes under the pro forma
disclosureprovisions of SFAS 123.
In accordance with SFAS 123, the Company previously measured employee stock optionrelated compensation
expense using the minimum value method for grants prior to theCompany’s initial public offering and the Black-Scholes
method afterward for determiningthe weighted average fair value of options granted. For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2005and 2004, had employee stock option related compensation expense been determined based onthe Black Scholes
method, the Company’s net loss and loss per share would have beenincreased to the pro forma amounts indicated below:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2005
2004
(In thousands, except per
shareamounts)

Net loss as reported
$
(1,647)
$
(731)
Stock-based employee compensation cost included in reportednet
loss
—
140
Pro forma stock-based employee compensation cost
underSFAS 123
(118)
(505)
Pro forma net loss
$
(1,765)
$ (1,096)
Loss per share:
Basic — as reported
$
(0.13)
$
(0.06)
Basic — pro forma
$
(0.14)
$
(0.09)
Diluted — as reported
$
(0.13)
$
(0.06)
Diluted — pro forma
$
(0.14)
$
(0.09)
For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortizedover the options’ vesting
periods. The pro forma effect on net income or loss for 2005and 2004 is not representative of the pro forma effect on net
income or loss in future yearsbecause compensation expense in future years may reflect the amortization of a larger
numberof stock options granted in several succeeding years.
In computing the pro forma compensation expense under SFAS 123, a weighted-averagefair value of $1.27 for 2005,
and $3.59 for 2004 stock option grants was estimated at the dateof grant using the minimum value option pricing model
before Qualstar’s initial publicoffering and the Black Scholes model afterward with the following assumptions:
2005

2004

Expected dividend yield
0%
0%
Risk-free interest rate
3.8%
2.9%
Expected life of options
4 years
4 years
Volatility
36.9%
100.8%
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method in accordance with SFAS 109,“Accounting for Income
Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax liabilities andassets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
temporary differencesbetween the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for the expectedfuture
tax benefit to be derived from tax credits and loss carryforwards. Current income taxexpense or benefit represents the
amount of income taxes expected to be payable or refundablefor the current year. A valuation allowance is established
when, in the opinion of management, itis more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is accounted for according to SFAS No. 130,“Reporting Comprehensive Income”
(SFAS 130). Comprehensive income (loss)includes unrealized gains and losses on debt and equity securities classified
asavailable-for-sale and included as a component of shareholders’ equity.
Loss per Share
Qualstar calculates earnings (loss) per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128,“Earnings per Share.” Basic earnings
per share has been computed by dividingnet loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.
Diluted loss per sharehas been computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average common shares outstandingplus
dilutive securities or other contracts to issue common stock as if these securities wereexercised or converted to common
stock.
The following table sets forth the calculation for basic and diluted loss per share for theperiods indicated:
Year Ended June 30,
2005
(In thousands)

2006

Loss:
Net loss
Shares:

$

Weighted average shares for basic loss pershare
Stock options

(1,692)

$

12,253
—

(1,647)

12,398
—

2004

$

(731)

12,577
—

Weighted average shares for diluted loss pershare
12,253
12,398
12,577
Shares issuable under stock options of 557,000, 455,000 and 511,000 for the years endedJune 30, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively, have been excluded from the computation ofdiluted loss per share because the effect would be
antidilutive.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current yearpresentation.
Note 2 – Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes marketable securities by security type at June 30, 2006, andJune 30, 2005,
respectively (in thousands):
June 30, 2006
US Treasury obligations and
directobligations of U.S. Government
Government Sponsored
Enterprisecollateralized mortgage
Corporate bonds
Total

Amortized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Fair

Cost

Gain

Loss

Value

$ 16,318
3,519
7,380
$ 27,217

$

$
41

—
—
—
—

$

(229)

$ 16,089

$

(108)
(58)
(395)

3,411
7,322
$ 26,822
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Amortized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Fair

June 30, 2005
Cost
Gain
Loss
Value
US Treasury obligations and
directobligations of U.S. Government
$ 12,703
$
—
$
(85) $ 12,618
Government Sponsored
Enterprisecollateralized mortgage
2,492
—
(20)
2,472
Corporate bonds
5,816
—
(54)
5,762
Total
$ 21,011
$
—
$
(159) $ 20,852
The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value of theCompany’s investments with unrealized
losses that are not deemed to beother-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category and length of time
thatindividual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at June 30, 2006, andJune 30, 2005,
respectively.
Less Than 12 Months
Fair
Unrealiz

June 30, 2006

US Treasuryobligations
and directobligations
ofU.S. Governmentag
encies

Value

$ 4,599

GovernmentSponsored
Enterprisecollateralize
1,757
dmortgage obligations
Corporate bonds
3,340
Total
$ 9,696

Loss

Value

Value
Loss
(In thousands)

$

(18)

$ 11,490

$

(9)
(6)
(33)

1,654
3,982
$ 17,126

Less Than 12 Months
Fair
Unrealiz

June 30, 2005

12 Months or Greater
Fair
Unrealize

Loss

Total
Fair

Unrealize

Value

Loss

$

(211)

$ 16,089

$

(99)
(52)
(362)

3,411
7,322
$ 26,822

12 Months or Greater
Fair
Unrealiz
Value
Loss
(In thousands)

$

(229)

$

(108)
(58)
(395)

Total
Fair

Unrealize

Value

Loss

US Treasury
obligationsand direct
obligationsof
U.S. Governmentagen $ 3,973
$ (27) $ 8,645
$ (58) $ 12,618
$
(85)
i
Government
SponsoredEnterprisec
ollateralizedmortgage
obligations
934
(3)
1,538
(17)
2,472
(20)
Corporate bonds
4,054
(41)
1,708
(13)
5,762
(54)
Total
$ 8,961
$ (71) $ 11,891
$ (88) $ 20,852
$ (159)
U.S. Treasury Obligations. The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments inU.S. Treasury obligations and
direct obligations of U.S. Government agencies were caused byinterest rate increases. The contractual terms of these
investments do not permit the issuer tosettle the securities at a price less than the amortized cost of the investment.
Because theCompany has the ability and intent to hold these investments until a recovery of fair value,which may be
maturity, the Company does not consider these investments to beother-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2006.
Government Sponsored Enterprise (GSE) Collateralized Mortgage Obligations. Freddie Macand Fannie Mae are
identified as GSEs. The unrealized losses on the Company’sinvestment in GSE collateralized mortgage obligations were
caused by interest rate increases.The cash flows of these investments are guaranteed by the GSE. Because the decline
in marketvalue is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality and because theCompany has the ability
and intent to hold these
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investments until a recovery of fair value, which may be maturity, the Company does notconsider these investments to be
other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2006.
Corporate Bonds. The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in corporatebonds were caused by interest
rate increases. The contractual terms of these investments donot permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less
than the amortized cost of theinvestment. Because the Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until
arecovery of fair value, which may be maturity, the Company does not consider theseinvestments to be other-thantemporarily impaired at June 30, 2006.
The following tables summarize the contractual maturities of the Company’s fixedmaturity securities (in thousands):
June 30,
2006

Less than 90 days
Less than one year
Due in one to two years
Due in two to five years

1,557
12,483
5,990
6,792
$ 26,822
Note 3 – Inventories

2005

$

—
3,700
9,692
8,462
21,854

$

$

Inventories consist of the following:
June 30,
2006
2005
(In thousands)

Raw materials, (net)
Finished goods

$ 6,473
825
$ 7,298
Note 4 – Property and Equipment
The components of property and equipment are as follows:

$ 6,196
961
$ 7,157

June 30,
2006
2005
(In thousands)

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment

$

546
1,006
2,416
3,968
(3,044)
$
924

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
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$

546
994
2,320
3,860
(2,672)
$ 1,188
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Note 5 – Income Taxes
The provision (benefit) for income taxes is comprised of the following:
2006

Current:
Federal
State

$

Year Ended June 30,
2005
(In thousands)

(86)
(3)
(89)

$ (156)
(215)
(371)

2004

$ (451)
(6)
(457)

Deferred:
Federal
State

—
342
257
—
94
55
—
436
312
$
(89)
$
65
$ (145)
The following is a reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to Qualstar’seffective income tax rate:
2006

Year Ended June 30,
2005

2004

Statutory federal income tax benefit
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Non-taxable investment income
Research and development credits
Valuation allowance
Amortization of deferred compensation
Other

(34.0)%
(34.0)%
(34.0)%
(3.4)
(3.7)
(4.2)
0.0
(3.4)
(16.0)
(6.5)
(15.5)
(22.8)
36.7
60.9
55.2
0.0
0.0
5.4
2.1
(0.2)
(0.2)
(5.1)%
4.1%
(16.6)%
The tax effect of temporary differences resulted in deferred income tax assets (liabilities) asfollows:
June 30,
2006
2005
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Capital loss and other credit carryforwards
Research and development credit carryforwards
Allowance for bad debts and returns
Inventory reserves
Capitalized inventory costs
Marketable securities
Other accruals
Total gross deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and other
Total gross deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$

$
44

1,030
444
437
45
279
30
151
455
2,871
(215)
(215)
(2,656)
—

$

$

610
501
471
102
167
40
0
331
2,222
(215)
(215)
(2,007)
—
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The Company placed a valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets during the fiscalyears ended June 30, 2006
and 2005 based on the Company’s assessment regardingthe realizability of such assets in future years. The Company
has net operating losses, capitallosses, research and development credit and other carryforwards for tax purposes of
$1,911 atJune 30, 2006 and $1,582 at June 30, 2005 expiring between fiscal years 2009 and 2025,except for the state
research and development credit, which has no limit on the carryforwardperiod.
Note 6 – Preferred Stock
Qualstar’s capital structure allows for the Board of Directors to authorize5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The
Board of Directors has authority to fix the rights,preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of these
shares of preferred stockwithout any future vote or action by the shareholders. At June 30, 2006 and 2005, there wereno
outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Note 7 – Shared Based Stock Option Plans
The Company has one share-based compensation plan as described below. During fiscal2006, 2005 and 2004, the
Company recorded share-based compensation associated withoutstanding stock option grants of approximately
$133,000, $0 and $0, respectively. No incometax benefit was recognized in the income statement for share-based
arrangements in any periodpresented.
Qualstar adopted a stock option plan (1998 Stock Incentive Plan) under which incentive andnonqualified stock
options could be granted for an aggregate of no more than 1,215,000 sharesof common stock. Under the terms of the
plan, options could be issued at an exercise price ofnot less than 100% of the fair market value of common stock on the
date of grant. If anincentive stock option is granted to an individual owning more than 10% of the total combinedvoting
power of all stock, the exercise price of the option may not be less than 110% of the fairmarket value of the underlying
shares on the date of grant. These option awards typically vestbased on 4 years of continuous service at a rate of
25% per year and terminate as specified ineach option agreement, but terminate no later than ten years after the date of
grant.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using theBlack-Scholes option valuation model
that uses the assumptions noted in the following table.Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the
Company’s stock. TheCompany uses historical data to estimate option exercise and employee termination indetermining
forfeiture rates and evaluates separate groups of employees by functional area thathave similar historical exercise
behavior. The expected term of options granted is estimatedbased on the vesting term of the award, historical employee
exercise behavior, expectedvolatility of the Company’s stock and an employee’s average length of service.The risk-free
interest rate used in this model correlates to a U.S. constant rate Treasury securitywith a contractual life that
approximates the expected term of the option award.Weighted-average numbers have been used below as indicated.
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options
Volatility

2006

2005

2004

0%
4.8%
4 years
30.8%

0%
3.8%
4 years
36.9%

0%
2.9%
4 years
100.8%

45

Table of Contents

QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
The following table summarizes all stock option activity (in thousands, except per shareamounts):
Weighted
Average
Options

Shares

Exercise Price

WeightedAver
age
Remaining
ContractualTer
m

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at June 30, 2005
455
$
4.80
Granted
136
3.02
Exercised
—
—
Forfeited or expired
(34)
4.90
Outstanding at June 30, 2006
557
$
4.36
7.39
$
45
Exercisable at June 30, 2006
299
$
5.06
5.98
—
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years 2006,2005 and 2004 was $0.96,
$1.27, and $3.59, respectively. The total intrinsic value of optionsexercised for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $0,
$11,000 and $43,000, respectively.
A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested shares at June 30, 2006 andchanges during the year are
presented below:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
NonvestedShares

Shares

Fair Value

Nonvested at June 30, 2005
193
$
1.72
Granted
136
0.96
Vested
(84)
1.87
Forfeited
(18)
2.15
Nonvested at June 30, 2006
227
$
1.18
At June 30, 2006, there was $267,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related tononvested share-based
compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. The cost isexpected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 3.1 years. The total fair value ofshares vested for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, was $156,000, $188,000
and $490,000,respectively.
Restricted Shares
On January 14, 2000, each of Qualstar’s four non-employee directors were grantedand purchased 54,000 shares of
restricted stock pursuant to the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan at aprice of $2.78 per share. Each director paid for the shares
with a promissory note in the amountof $150,000 secured by the purchased shares. Interest on the notes accrued at the
rate of6.21% and was payable annually. Payments of principal on the notes were due in four equalannual installments
beginning in January 2002. Qualstar, solely at its discretion, had the right torepurchase each director’s restricted shares at
the original purchase price upontermination of service for any reason. Qualstar’s repurchase right lapsed and the
sharesvested ratably over four years based upon each year of service as a director. All of theseshares were fully vested
as of January 14, 2004.
Upon issuance of the restricted stock and granting of stock options in January 2000,Qualstar recorded a deferred
compensation charge of $1.7 million related to both stock optionsand restricted stock for the difference between the
exercise price and the deemed fair marketvalue for accounting purposes on the date of the grant. The deferred
compensation recordedwas amortized over a four-year vesting period, which resulted in compensation expense
of$140,000 in fiscal 2004, $301,000 in fiscal 2003, and $430,000 in fiscal 2002. During the yearended June 30, 2003,
approximately 52,000 of unvested stock options related to these grantswere forfeited. The forfeitures resulted in a
decrease in common stock paid-in-capital anddeferred compensation of $190,000 during the year ended June 30, 2003.
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Note 8 – Purchase of N2 Power
On July 11, 2002, Qualstar acquired the assets and intellectual properties of N2Power,Incorporated, a privately held
company which designed and produced small and efficientopen-frame switching power supplies. The consideration for
this acquisition amounted to$250,000 plus acquisition expenses of $38,000. The purchase price was primarily allocated to
apatent, in the amount of $240,000, which is being amortized over 5 years. At June 30, 2006,accumulated amortization of
the patent was $192,000. Amortization expense for the years endedJune 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $48,000 in each
year. Amortization expense is estimated tobe $48,000 in fiscal year 2007.
Note 9 – Commitments
Qualstar’s lease agreement for its facility located in Simi Valley, California, expires inFebruary of 2011, with an early
termination option becoming available in February of 2007. Theannual rent for the lease is $468,000, with step-ups
ranging from $28,000 to $34,000 every twoyears. The Company provides for rent expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
Qualstar’s lease agreement for its facility located in Boulder, Colorado, expires inMay of 2007. The annual rent for the
lease is $55,000, with a nominal step-up of approximately2% annually. Subsequent to June 30, 2006, we extended the
Colorado facility lease throughMay 2009.
Future minimum lease payments under these leases are as follows:
Minimum
YearEnding

Lease Payment

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

$

592,000
554,000
570,000
588,000
307,000
$ 2,611,000
Rent expense (including equipment rental) for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, and2004, was $670,000,
$671,000, and $679,000, respectively.
Note 10 – Segment Information
Based on the provisions of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of anEnterprise and Related Information”
and the manner in which the Chief OperatingDecision Maker analyzes the business, Qualstar has determined that it has
two separateoperating segments.
Segment revenue, loss before taxes and total assets were as follows:
2006

Revenue
Tape Libraries:
Product
Service
Total Tape Libraries
Power Supplies
Consolidated Revenue

16,008
3,144
19,152
2,579
21,731
47

Year Ended June 30
2005

21,231
2,638
23,869
1,275
25,144

2004

28,573
2,386
30,959
571
31,530
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2006

LossbeforeTaxes
Tape Libraries
Power Supplies
Consolidated Loss before Taxes

Year Ended June 30
2005

(1,434)
(347)
(1,781)
2006

(1,427)
(155)
(1,582)

Year Ended June 30
2005

2004

(556)
(320)
(876)
2004

TotalAssets
Tape Libraries
44,312
46,317
51,239
Power Supplies
1,087
906
408
Consolidated Assets
45,399
47,223
51,647
SFAS No. 131,Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,establishes standards for
reporting information about operating segments. This standard requiressegmentation based on our internal organization
and reporting of revenue and operating incomebased upon internal accounting methods. Operating segments are defined
as components of anenterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly bythe
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessingperformance. Our chief operating
decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer. Our twosegments are Tape Libraries and Power Supplies. The two
segments discussed in this analysisare presented the way we internally managed and monitored performance in fiscal
years 2006,2005, and 2004. Our financial reporting systems present various data for management tooperate the
business, including internal profit and loss statements prepared on a basisconsistent with U.S. GAAP. Fiscal years 2006,
2005 and 2004 amounts do not reflect allocationsfor certain internal resources, pension expense, legal expense,
accounting fees, and other items.However, this represented the measurement data used by the chief operating decision
maker inevaluating performance. The tape library business has dominated our operations, thus, ouroperations and
reporting have been set up to accommodate a single segment and attribute allrevenues and expenses to the tape library
side, with the power supply business being anancillary part of overall operations. As the power supply segment grew in
the last year torepresent greater than 10% of combined revenues, the framework for internal resourceallocations will be
implemented in fiscal 2007.
The types of products and services provided by each segment are summarized below:
Tape Libraries — We design, develop, manufacture and sell automated magnetic tapelibraries used to store, retrieve and
manage electronic data primarily in network computingenvironments. Tape libraries consist of cartridge tape drives, tape
cartridges and robotics tomove the cartridges from their storage locations to the tape drives under software control.
Ourtape libraries provide data storage solutions for organizations requiring backup, recovery andarchival storage of critical
data.
Power Supplies — We design, manufacture, and sell ultra small, open frame, highefficiency switching power supplies.
These power supplies are used to convert AC line voltageto DC for use in a wide variety of electronic equipment such as
telecommunications equipment,machine tools, routers, switches, wireless systems and gaming devices.
Certain assets are tracked separately by the power supplies segment, and all others arerecorded in the tape library
segment for internal reporting presentations. Cash is not segregatedbetween the two segments, but retained by the library
segment.
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Geographic Information
Information regarding revenues attributable to the Qualstar’s primary geographicoperating regions is as follows:
2006

Revenues:
North America
Europe
Asia Pacific
Other

Year Ended June 30,
2005
(In thousands)

2004

$ 16,051
$ 18,281
$ 21,312
3,467
4,933
4,842
1,610
1,264
4,279
604
666
1,097
$ 21,732
$ 25,144
$ 31,530
The geographic classification of revenues is based upon the location to which the product isshipped. Qualstar does
not have any significant long-lived assets outside of the United States.
Note 11 – Legal Proceedings
On January 10, 2003, Raytheon Company (“Raytheon”) filed a complaint inthe United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas alleging that Qualstar and eightother named defendants infringed on a patent owned by
Raytheon entitled “Mass DataStorage Library.” Raytheon filed an amended complaint on or about February 6, 2003,which
included an allegation that Qualstar’s tape libraries infringe Raytheon’spatent. On April 2, 2004, Raytheon and Qualstar
entered into a written settlement agreementpursuant to which all claims between the parties alleged in the litigation were
dismissed withprejudice. The costs to settle this dispute have been included in our results of operations ingeneral and
administrative expenses in the year ended June 30, 2004 and have not had amaterial adverse effect on our financial
position.
We are from time to time involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in theordinary course of
business. At this time, we are not aware of any pending or threatenedlitigation against us that we expect will have a
material adverse effect on our business, financialcondition, liquidity or operating results. Legal claims are inherently
uncertain, however. Wecannot assure you that we will not be adversely affected in the future by legal proceedings.
Note 12 – Benefit Plans
Qualstar has a voluntary deferred compensation plan (the Plan) qualifying for treatmentunder Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(k). All employees are eligible to participate in the Planfollowing three months of service of employment and
may contribute up to 100% of theircompensation on a pre-tax basis, not to exceed the annual IRS maximum. Qualstar, at
thediscretion of management, may make matching contributions in an amount equal to 25% of thefirst 6% of
compensation contributed by eligible participants. Qualstar’s contributionsunder the Plan totaled $59,000, $67,000, and
$76,000 for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005,and 2004 respectively.
Note 13 – Related Party Transactions
Qualstar’s outside counsel is a member of its board of directors. During the yearsended June 30, 2006, 2005, and
2004 Qualstar paid $94,000, $105,000, and $131,000,respectively to the law firm in which the director is a shareholder for
general business purposes.
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Note 14 – Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Financial Interpretation No. 48(FIN 48), “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” in June 2006. FIN 48prescribes a recognition and measurement threshold for tax positions
taken or expected to betaken on a tax return and relates to the uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the
financialstatements in accordance with FAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 is effective forthe first fiscal year
beginning after December 15, 2006, thus, we expect to adopt it in our fiscalyear beginning July 1, 2007. Due to our loss
position, we do not expect the adoption of FIN 48to have a material impact on our financial statements.
Note 15 – Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
June 30,

Fiscal 2006:
Net sales
Gross profit
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted
Fiscal 2005:
Net sales
Gross profit
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

Three Months Ended
March 31,
December 31
September 30
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 4,888
1,603
(694)

$

5,052
1,446
(598)

$

5,689
1,922
(189)

$

6,102
1,904
(211)

$

(0.06)
(0.06)

$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$

(0.02)
(0.02)

$

(0.02)
(0.02)

$ 6,706
2,110
(429)

$

5,742
1,861
(635)

$

6,392
2,311
(347)

$

6,305
2,333
(236)

$

$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$

(0.03)
(0.03)

$

(0.02)
(0.02)

(0.04)
(0.04)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ONACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of ourmanagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of theeffectiveness of the design and operation of Qualstar’s disclosure
controls andprocedures as of June 30, 2006, pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of1934. Based
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officerconcluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that informationrequired to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in theCommission’s
rules and forms, and to ensure that the information required to bedisclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is accumulated andcommunicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
FinancialOfficer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
We did not make any changes in our internal control over financial reporting during thefourth quarter of fiscal 2006
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
The information called for by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part III of Form 10-K (exceptinformation as to Qualstar’s
executive officers, which is included under Part I, Item 1 ofthis Report) will be included in Qualstar’s Proxy Statement
which management intends tofile with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of its
fiscalyear ended June 30, 2006, and is hereby incorporated by reference to such Proxy Statement.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
A list of our executive officers and biographical information appears in Part I, Item 1 of thisreport. Information about
our Directors may be found under the caption “Election ofDirectors” of our Proxy Statement (the “Proxy Statement”). That
informationis incorporated herein by reference.
The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the caption “Section 16(a)Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “ExecutiveCompensation” and “Information
Regarding the Board and its Committees”is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT
The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the caption “SecurityOwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners
and Management” is incorporated herein byreference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The information set forth under the captions “Certain Relationships and RelatedTransactions” of the Proxy Statement
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information concerning principal accountant fees and services appears in the ProxyStatement “Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” and is incorporatedherein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present inamounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or because the requiredinformation is included in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits:
Exhibit
No.

3.1(1)
3.2(1)
10.1(1)*
10.2(1)
10.3(2)
10.4*
10.5*
14.1(3)
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Description

Restated Articles of Incorporation.
Amended and Restated Bylaws.
1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
Lease agreement between Strategic Performance Fund-II, Inc. and
QualstarCorporation, dated September 20, 2000.
Base salaries payable to executive officers during the fiscal year ending
June 30,2007.
Cash bonus plan for executive officers for fiscal year ending June 30, 2007.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Subsidiaries of Qualstar Corporation
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibits to Qualstar’s registrationstatement on
Form S-1 (Commission File No. 333-96009), declared effective by theCommission on June 22,
2000.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar’s Report onForm 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2000.
(3) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar’s Report onForm 10-K for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.
*
Each of these exhibits constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan orarrangement
required to be filed as an exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 15(b) of thisreport.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedthereunto duly authorized.
QUALSTAR CORPORATION
Date: September 28, 2006
By:
/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais,
Chief Executive Officer and President
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has beensigned below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and onthe dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS

Chief Executive Officer,
President and Director
(principal executive officer
andprincipal financial officer)

September 28, 2006

Vice President, Engineering
Secretary and Director

September 28, 2006

Director

September 28, 2006

Director

September 28, 2006

Director

September 28, 2006

Director

September 28, 2006

Controller

September 28, 2006

William J. Gervais

/s/ RICHARD A. NELSON
Richard A. Nelson
/s/ CARL W. GROMADA
Carl W. Gromada
/s/ STANLEY W. CORKER
Stanley W. Corker
/s/ ROBERT E. RICH
Robert E. Rich
/s/ ROBERT A. MEYER
Robert A. Meyer
/s/ NIDHI H. ANDALON
Nidhi H. Andalon
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3.1(1)
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10.2(1)
10.3(2)
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10.5*
14.1(3)
21.1
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Description

Restated Articles of Incorporation.
Amended and Restated Bylaws.
1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
Lease agreement between Strategic Performance Fund-II, Inc. and
QualstarCorporation, dated September 20, 2000.
Base salaries payable to executive officers during the fiscal year ending
June 30,2007.
Cash bonus plan for executive officers for fiscal year ending June 30, 2007.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Subsidiaries of Qualstar Corporation
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibits to Qualstar’s registrationstatement on
Form S-1 (Commission File No. 333-96009), declared effective by theCommission on June 22,
2000.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar’s Report onForm 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2000.
(3) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar’s Report onForm 10-K for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.
*
Each of these exhibits constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan orarrangement
required to be filed as an exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 15(b) of thisreport.
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Exhibit 10.4
Base Salaries
For Executive Officers of
Qualstar Corporation
For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2007
Name

Title

Fiscal Year 2007
Base Salary(1)

Chief Executive Officer
William J. Gervais
andPresident
$
195,000
Robert K. Covey
Vice President of Marketing
$
172,000
David L. Griffith
Vice President of Operations
$
165,000
Robert C. King
Vice President of Sales
$
165,000(2)
Richard A. Nelson
Vice President of Engineering
$
170,000
(1)
Qualstar is an “at will” employer. The expression of base salaries in annualamounts does not
imply that there is an agreement to employ any executive officer for anyspecific period of time.
(2) Mr. King also receives an auto allowance of $6,000 per year.

Exhibit 10.5
Cash Bonus Plan for
Executive Officers of
Qualstar Corporation
For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2007
Executive Officers of Qualstar Corporation are entitled to receive cash bonuses if theCompany achieves stated levels
of consolidated revenue and pre-tax profits for the fiscal yearending June 30, 2007, excluding the effects of acquisitions, if
any, made during the fiscal year.The Company’s Board of Directors reserves the right to modify this bonus plan from
timeto time, if appropriate, in the event of extraordinary circumstances.
For all executive officers other than the Vice President of Sales, the potential cash bonuseswill be as follows: (1) from
0% of base salary if consolidated revenue is less than $22 million forthe fiscal year ending June 30, 2007, to a maximum
of 20% of base salary if consolidatedrevenue is more than $38 million for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007; plus (2) an
additionalbonus ranging from 0% of base salary if the Company is not profitable for the fiscal year endingJune 30, 2007,
to a maximum of 20% of base salary if consolidated pre-tax profits are morethan 19% of consolidated revenue for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2007. Bonuses will bepaid during the first fiscal quarter following completion of the fiscal year
based on the actualrevenue and pre-tax profit levels achieved for that year and provided that the executive is
stillemployed by the Company as of the date of payment.
For the Vice President of Sales, the potential cash bonuses will be as follows: (1) from$3,000 if consolidated revenue,
excluding revenue from sales of power supplies, is $20 million,up to $75,000 if consolidated revenue, excluding revenue
from sales of power supplies, is$35 million; plus (2) an additional bonus ranging from 0% of base salary if consolidated
pre-taxprofits, including profits from sales of power supplies, are less than 5% of consolidated revenuefor the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2007, to a maximum of 15% of base salary if consolidatedpre-tax profits, including profits from sales of
power supplies, are more than 19% ofconsolidated revenue for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007. His bonus will be
computedquarterly based on an estimate of full year revenues and pre-tax profits and paid during thefollowing quarter
provided that he is still employed by the Company as of the date of payment.After completion of the fiscal year, his bonus
will be calculated based on the actual revenue andpre-tax profit levels achieved for that year, and any adjustments to the
estimated bonuspayments will be made at that time.

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF QUALSTAR CORPORATION
Name

Qualstar Sales and Service Corporation

State of Incorporation

California

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM.
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8No. 333-61080) pertaining to
the Qualstar Corporation 1998 Employee Stock Incentive Plan ofour report dated September 15, 2006, with respect to the
consolidated financial statements ofQualstar Corporation included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended
June 30,2006.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
September 27, 2006
Woodland Hills, CA

Exhibit 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, William J. Gervais, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Qualstar Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a materialfact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of thecircumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to theperiod covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information includedin this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operationsand cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing andmaintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosurecontrols and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that materialinformation relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made knownto us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report isbeing
prepared;
(b) [Paragraph (b) is omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls andprocedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of thedisclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report basedon such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control overfinancial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (theregistrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materiallyaffected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal controlover financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our mostrecent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorsand the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing theequivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation ofinternal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect theregistrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employeeswho have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 28, 2006
/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais,
Principal Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, William J. Gervais, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Qualstar Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a materialfact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of thecircumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to theperiod covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information includedin this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operationsand cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing andmaintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosurecontrols and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that materialinformation relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made knownto us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report isbeing
prepared;
(b) [Paragraph (b) is omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls andprocedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of thedisclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report basedon such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control overfinancial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (theregistrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materiallyaffected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal controlover financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our mostrecent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorsand the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing theequivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation ofinternal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect theregistrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employeeswho have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 28, 2006
/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais,
Principal Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, William J. Gervais, Chief Executive Officer of Qualstar Corporation (the“Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended June 30,2006 (the “Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, thefinancial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Dated: September 28, 2006
/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais,
Principal Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, William J. Gervais, Acting Chief Financial Officer of Qualstar Corporation (the“Company”), certify, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended June 30,2006 (the “Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, thefinancial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Dated: September 28, 2006
/s/ WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais,
Principal Financial Officer
_______________________________________________
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